
Pine Grove Mills Small Area Plan Advisory Committee
 Regular Meeting Agenda 

Thursday, September 24, 2020 
4:00 p.m. 

Zoom Link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83983380806 

Password: 935105 

I. CALL TO ORDER

II. CITIZEN’S INPUT

III. REVIEW OF POLICIES AND PROCEDURES FOR THE CONDUCTING OF PUBLIC MEETINGS

Narrative
Dave Pribulka, Township Manager will review the applicable local and state statutes that govern the
conducing of official business by government agencies. These include the Pennsylvania Sunshine
Act; the Pennsylvania Right-to-Know Law; Code of Ethics Policy; Email Policy; and Social Media
Policy. Each document is provided with the agenda material. This item is informational only and no
action is required at this time. Members will be asked to sign and return an email acknowledgment
form to the Township Manager.

Staff Recommendation 
That the Committee review and discuss the policies and procedures. 

IV. PINE GROVE MILLS REZONING PROPOSAL AND ESTABLISHMENT OF A PINE GROVE MILLS
OVERLAY DISTRICT

Narrative
The Board of Supervisors referred a consideration to rezoning a portion of Pine Grove Mills on what 
is currently the Hillside Farm Estates Subdivision to the PGM SAP Committee for review. The 
Committee reviewed this request briefly at its organizational meeting in July. Additionally, the Board of 
Supervisors has requested input from the PGM SAP Committee on the establishment of an overlay 
district in the Village that could enable land use regulations consistent with the implementation of 
the Small Area Plan. Provided with the agenda are some materials germane to the request. Staff will 
introduce the item and describe the process moving forward. Committee members are asked to 
discuss a scope of work and strategy to approach this topic. A link to the Small Area Plan is 
provided below. Lastly, the Board and Planning Commission have requested the PGM SAP 
Committee review a request from staff to rezone two parcels at the base of Pine Grove Mountain 
adjacent to Rothrock State Forest. The current proposal is to rezone the parcels to Forest/
Gamelands (FG) from Rural Residential (RR).

Pine Grove Mills Small Area Plan

Recommended motion: That the Pine Grove Mills Small Area Plan Advisory Committee recommend 
that the Board of Supervisors rezone parcels 24-007-044 and 24-007-500 from Rural 
Residential to Forest/Gamelands.

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83983380806
https://www.twp.ferguson.pa.us/sites/g/files/vyhlif576/f/uploads/2019_12_23_pgm_sap_jlw.pdf


Staff Recommendation 
That the Committee review and discuss the request to establish a Pine Grove Mills Overlay Zone. 

V. DISCUSSION OF BANNERS AND SIGNAGE IN PINE GROVE MILLS TO ENCOURAGE MASKING
AND ADHERENCE TO PUBLIC SAFETY PROTOCOL TO SLOW THE TRANSMISSION OF COVID-
19

Narrative
Township staff has been working with other Centre Region municipalities and Penn State University 
to establish a regional education and marketing campaign encourage adherence to safety protocol to 
combat the transmission of COVID-19. A proposal the Township is interested in involved the 
placement of banners on ornamental streetlights in each municipality promoting the campaign “Mask 
Up, State College.” Pine Grove Mills may be a good location as it has ornamental streetlights that are 
owned by the Township and can sees a fair amount of commuter traffic. The PGM SAP Committee is 
asked to discuss this request and, if interested in proceeding, endorse the placement of 
banners on ornamental streetlights in Pine Grove Mills. Provided with the agenda is a rendering of 
the proposed banners.

Recommended motion: That the Pine Grove Mills Small Area Plan Advisory Committee 
endorse the placement of banners on ornamental streetlights in Pine Grove Mills to promote 
adherence to public safety protocols to slow the transmission of COVID-19.

Staff Recommendation 
That the Committee endorse the placement of banners on ornamental streetlights in Pine Grove Mills. 

VI. OPEN DISCUSSION/STAFF REPORTS

VII. ADJOURNMENT





Open Meetings
The Sunshine Act







Fourth Edition
June 2015


Open Meetings
The Sunshine Act







Comments or inquiries on the subject matter of this publication should be addressed to:


Governor’s Center for Local Government Services
Department of Community and Economic Development
Commonwealth Keystone Building
400 North Street, 4th Floor
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 17120-0225


(717) 787-8158
1-888-223-6837
E-mail: ra-dcedclgs@pa.gov


This and other publications are available for viewing or downloading free-of-charge from the Department of Community
and Economic Development website. Printed copies may be ordered and purchased through a private vendor as
indicated on the website.


Access www.newPA.com
Select Local Government
Select Publications and Documents in the left navigation bar


No liability is assumed with respect to the use of information contained in this publication. Laws may be amended or court rulings
made that could affect a particular procedure, issue or interpretation. The Department of Community and Economic Development
assumes no responsibility for errors and omissions nor any liability for damages resulting from the use of information contained herein.
Please contact your local solicitor for legal advice.


Preparation of this publication was financed from appropriations of the General Assembly of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. 
The Department of Community and Economic Development recognizes Scott E. Coburn, General Counsel of the Pennsylvania State
Association of Township Supervisors, for his contributions to the revisions of this publication.


Copyright © 2015, Pennsylvania Department of Community and Economic Development, all rights reserved.







Table of Contents  


I. Purpose of the Sunshine Act  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1


II. Open Meeting Requirements  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2
Agencies  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2
Meetings  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2
Deliberations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .3
Administrative Action . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .4


III. Exceptions to Open Meeting Requirements  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .5
Executive Sessions  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .5
Conferences  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .6
Working Sessions of Auditors . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .7


IV. Public Notice  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .8


V. Public Participation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .10


VI. Recording of Votes and Minutes   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .11
Recording Votes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .11
Minutes of Meetings  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .11
Public’s Use of Recording Equipment  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .11


VII. Confidentiality  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .12


VIII. Violations of the Sunshine Act  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .13
Legal Challenges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .13
Violations and Penalties  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .13
Curing Violations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .13







1


OPEN MEETINGS | THE SUNSHINE ACT
June 2015


I. Purpose of the Sunshine Act


When enacting the Sunshine Act, the Pennsylvania General Assembly determined that the public’s right to be present at
all meetings of agencies and witness the deliberative and decision making process is “vital to the enhancement and
proper functioning of the democratic process and that secrecy in public affairs undermines the faith of the public in
government and the public’s effectiveness in fulfilling its role in a democratic society.”


1
As a result, the General Assembly


declared it to be the policy of the commonwealth “to insure the right of its citizens to have notice of and the right to
attend all meetings of agencies at which any agency business is discussed or acted upon.”


2 


The Pennsylvania Supreme Court has held that the Sunshine Act is “designed to enhance the proper functioning of the
democratic process by curtailing secrecy in public affairs.”


3
The Sunshine Act “should be read broadly in order to


accomplish its important objective of allowing the public to witness deliberations and actions of public agencies.”
4


It
should also be construed together with the Right-to-Know Law, if possible, because both statutes relate to providing
information about the actions of public agencies.


5


References
1. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 702(a).
2. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 702(b).
3. Smith v. Township of Richmond, 82 A.3d 407 (Pa. 2013).
4. Lee Publications, Inc. v. Dickinson School of Law, 848 A.2d 178 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2004), appeal granted, 854 A.2d 969, 578 Pa. 718 (2004), review


dismissed as improvidently granted, 857 A.2d 675, 579 Pa. 545 (2004).
5. Schenck v. Township of Center, Butler County, 893 A.2d 849 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2006), appeal granted, 918 A.2d 749, 591 Pa. 707 (2007), appeal


dismissed as improvidently granted, 975 A.2d 591, 601 Pa. 548 (2009).







2


OPEN MEETINGS | THE SUNSHINE ACT
June 2015


II. Open Meeting Requirements


The Sunshine Act requires that all “[o]fficial action and deliberations by a quorum of the members of an agency shall
take place at a meeting open to the public” unless a closed meeting is otherwise permitted.


1


Many of the terms above are discussed in detail below because they are critical to the determination of whether an
entity is subject to the Sunshine Act and whether its actions must take place at a public meeting.   


Agencies
The Sunshine Act broadly defines an “agency” to include the governing body, and all committees authorized by the
governing body to take official action or render advice on agency business, of a wide variety of state and local
government entities. The General Assembly, Executive Branch (including the Governor’s cabinet when meeting on
official policymaking business), and all boards, councils, authorities, and commissions of the Commonwealth are subject
to the Sunshine Act. In addition, all governing boards of political subdivisions (counties, cities, boroughs, incorporated
towns, townships, school districts, intermediate units, vocational school districts, or county institution districts) and any
board, council, authority, or commission authorized by them are covered by the Sunshine Act. Furthermore, school
boards, authorities, and commissions, as well as boards of trustees of state-aided, state-owned, and state-related
colleges and universities and community colleges are subject to the Sunshine Act. Finally, the law applies to any other
organization that performs an essential governmental function and through the joint action of its members exercises
governmental authority and takes official action. The Sunshine Act does not apply to caucuses or ethics committee
meetings of the Pennsylvania Senate or House of Representatives.


2


The following is a sampling of the specific bodies and committees that have been determined to be “agencies” subject
to the Sunshine Act by the Pennsylvania courts:


• Zoning hearing boards,
3


• Planning commissions,
4


• A school district empowerment team, because it was authorized to take official action and render advice on
policies and regulations,


5
and


• The Philadelphia Board of License and Inspection Review, because it was created as a quasi-judicial body that
performed fact-finding and deliberative functions.


6


Conversely, the following have been determined not to be subject to the Sunshine Act:


• Individuals, including the Governor, and commissions that lack the authority to make binding recommendations,
7


• Independent entities that have a contractual relationship with a public body,
8


and


• A tax increment financing committee that did not exercise governmental authority or take official action.
9


Ad hoc committees or citizen advisory committees that are created for the purpose of furnishing information and
recommendations to governing bodies are not subject to the Sunshine Act unless they have “actual, or de facto,
decision-making authority.”


10 


Meetings
A “meeting” is defined as “[a]ny prearranged gathering of an agency which is attended or participated in by a quorum of
the members of an agency held for the purpose of deliberating agency business or taking official action.” 


“Agency business” is the “framing, preparation, making or enactment of laws, policy or regulations, the creation of
liability by contract or otherwise, or the adjudication of rights, duties and responsibilities,” but does not include
administrative actions taken by agencies. “Official action” refers to recommendations made by an agency, the
establishment of policy by an agency, decisions on agency business, and votes taken.


11







3


OPEN MEETINGS | THE SUNSHINE ACT
June 2015


Agency members may participate in meetings via telephone, provided that the members can communicate with each
other and the members of the public can hear all members involved.


12
Although there are no known appellate-level cases


dealing with participation at meetings through internet-based programs such as Skype or GoToMeeting, it is almost
certain that type of participation would also be upheld by the courts.


Deliberations
“Deliberation” means the “discussion of agency business held for the purpose of making a decision.”


13


What constitutes “deliberation” by an agency has been the source of considerable controversy and litigation, in
significant part because it requires a fact-sensitive inquiry. For example, the Commonwealth Court held that a township
board of supervisors violated the Sunshine Act when a quorum of the board met regarding a proposed amendment to a
zoning ordinance during a closed meeting after a newly appointed member of the board felt unprepared to consider the
proposed change. The court found that the meeting clearly amounted to a quorum of the board deliberating regarding a
pending ordinance, which constituted agency business.


14


However, agencies are permitted to conduct fact-finding or information-gathering sessions, provided that those sessions
involve no deliberations or official action.


15
In a recent case, a township took steps to educate a new supervisor and


solicitor regarding pending litigation involving the possible expansion of a quarry. The board of supervisors conducted a
series of gatherings with officials from neighboring townships, concerned citizens, and the quarry’s ownership. All parties
involved confirmed that there were no deliberations and no official actions taken during the gatherings. In finding that
the board of supervisors did not violate the Sunshine Act, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court held that “[g]atherings held
solely for the purpose of collecting information or educating agency members about an issue” are not held for the
purpose of making a decision, even where the information obtained during that gathering may later assist the agency in
taking official action.


16


In addition, zoning hearing boards are permitted to engage in “quasi-judicial deliberations” during executive sessions,
which are discussed in more detail in the section, “Exceptions to Open Meeting Requirements,” in this publication.


17


It is important to note that the Sunshine Act only governs the formal actions taken at public meetings, not any writings that
may be issued to explain those formal actions. For example, when a zoning hearing board issued a written opinion that
differed somewhat from the reasons stated by the board during the public meeting, it did not violate the Sunshine Act.


18


Administrative Action
Administrative actions taken by agencies need not comply with the Sunshine Act. Such actions are defined as the
“execution of policies relating to persons or things as previously authorized or required by official action of the agency
adopted at an open meeting of the agency.”


19
In other words, once the agency takes official action at a public meeting, it


may take the actions necessary to implement those official actions without doing so at future public meetings. For
example, a township may be faced with the issue of whether to construct storm sewers. The deliberations regarding
whether to undertake the project, the vote, and the award of the contract would all need to take place at a public
meeting. However, the administrative details, such as meetings with the contractor and the scheduling of construction,
could be handled outside of public meetings.


In an illustrative case, a city council failed to timely adopt a budget. Because there was no agreement between the city and
the police union that the police would work without wages, the mayor furloughed the entire police force. The court ruled that
the mayor had the authority as the city’s chief executive to furlough the officers because he had no authority to pay wages
without a budget. His actions in furloughing the police force were considered to be administrative actions.


20
Similarly, when


a committee of the House of Representatives approved revised per diem guidelines after the full House of Representatives
adopted a resolution approving a per diem increase during a public meeting, a court held that the committee’s approval
was an administrative action by which the committee executed the resolution adopted by the House.


21 







4


OPEN MEETINGS | THE SUNSHINE ACT
June 2015


References
1. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 704.
2. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 703.
3. Kennedy v. Upper Milford Tp. Zoning Hearing Bd., 834 A.2d 1104, 575 Pa. 105 (2003).
4. Moore v. Township of Raccoon, 625 A.2d 737, 155 Pa.Cmwlth. 529 (1993).
5. Patriot-News Co. v. Empowerment Team of Harrisburg School Dist. Members, 763 A.2d 539 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2000).
6. Society Hill Civic Ass’n v. Philadelphia Bd. of License & Inspection Review, 905 A.2d 579 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2007), appeal denied, 923 A.2d 412, 592 Pa.


762 (2007).
7. Ristau v. Casey, 647 A.2d 642, 167 Pa.Cmwlth. 118 (1994).
8. Lee Publications, Inc. v. Dickinson School of Law, 848 A.2d 178 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2004), appeal granted, 854 A.2d 969, 578 Pa. 718 (2004), review


dismissed as improvidently granted, 857 A.2d 675, 579 Pa. 545 (2004).
9. Mazur v. Washington County Redevelopment Authority, 900 A.2d 1024 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2006), appeal denied, 912 A.2d 839, 590 Pa. 671 (2006). 
10. Ristau v. Casey, 647 A.2d 642, 167 Pa.Cmwlth. 118 (1994); Fraternal Order of Police Lodge No. 5 v. City of Philadelphia, 92 Pa.Cmwlth. 340, 500


A.2d 900 (1985), appeal granted, 510 Pa. 361 (1986), appeal dismissed, 512 Pa. 636 (1986).
11. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 703.
12. Babac v. Pennsylvania Milk Marketing Bd., 613 A.2d 551, 531 Pa. 391 (1992).
13. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 703.
14. Ackerman v. Upper Mt. Bethel Tp., 567 A.2d 1116, 130 Pa.Cmwlth. 254 (1989).
15. Smith v. Township of Richmond, 82 A.3d 407 (Pa. 2013); Belle Vernon Area Concerned Citizens v. Board of Com’rs of Rostraver Tp., 487 A.2d 490,


87 Pa.Cmwlth. 474 (1985).  
16. Smith v. Township of Richmond, 82 A.3d 407 (Pa. 2013).
17. Kennedy v. Upper Milford Tp. Zoning Hearing Bd., 575 Pa. 105, 834 A.2d 1104 (2003).
18. Smith v. Hanover Zoning Hearing Bd., 78 A.3d 1212 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2013).  
19. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 703.
20. Fraternal Order of Police, Flood City Lodge No. 86 v. City of Johnstown, 594 A.2d 838, 140 Pa.Cmwlth. 644 (1991).  
21. Common Cause/Pennsylvania v. Itkin, 635 A.2d 1113, 161 Pa.Cmwlth. 15 (1993).







5


OPEN MEETINGS | THE SUNSHINE ACT
June 2015


III. Exceptions to Open Meeting Requirements


There are three exceptions to the Sunshine Act’s open meeting requirement: 1) executive sessions; 2) conferences; and 
3) certain working sessions of boards of auditors.


1
Each of these exceptions is addressed in more detail below.


Executive Sessions
Whether a gathering constitutes a lawful executive session is one of the most controversial aspects of complying with
the Sunshine Act. Given that, agencies must remember that there are only six purposes for which an agency may
conduct an executive session. Those purposes are set forth below.


1. Personnel Matters
The Sunshine Act permits agencies to “discuss any matter involving the employment, appointment, termination of
employment, terms and conditions of employment, evaluation of performance, promotion or disciplining of any specific
prospective or current public officer or employee employed or appointed by the agency, or former public officer or
employee” in executive sessions. However, if an individual’s rights may be adversely affected, the individual may make a
written request that the matter be discussed at an open meeting.


2


For example, agencies may discuss employee discipline during executive sessions.
3


But, discussions regarding the termination
of contracts with third-party consultants must be public because consultants are not a “public officer or employee.”


4


While discussions on employment-related matters may take place in executive sessions, final votes must still take place
at public meetings. Final votes are those that commit an agency to a course of action. For example, where an agency met
in executive session and narrowed the field of candidates from five to three and then again from three to one, it did not
violate the Sunshine Act because it then took the final vote to select the chosen candidate during a public meeting.


5
In


contrast, where a school district failed to make a public vote to grant a raise to its superintendent, instead taking the
action during an executive session, it violated the Sunshine Act.


6


In another case, a teacher involved in disciplinary proceedings requested that those proceedings take place in private.
The school board agreed and then negotiated an agreement with the teacher during a private meeting and adopted a
motion to suspend her during a subsequent public meeting. A newspaper alleged that the school board violated the
Sunshine Act by executing the agreement in private and not disclosing the basis for its decision during the public
meeting. The court held that no violation occurred and that in certain instances the public’s right to know must be
balanced with an individual’s right to confidentiality concerning a disciplinary matter.


7


2. Collective Bargaining Agreements and Labor Relations
Agencies may hold “information, strategy and negotiation sessions relating to the negotiation or arbitration of a
collective bargaining agreement or, in the absence of a collective bargaining unit, related to labor relations and
arbitration generally” outside of public meetings.


8
That is because, as the Commonwealth Court held, it was “never the


purpose of the Sunshine Act to compel negotiations of labor contracts in the open.”
9


A county was found not to have violated the Sunshine Act when it decided in executive session to close a county-run
nursing home because the issue was a matter that clearly affected the nursing home staff and was thus a matter
appropriate for collective bargaining.


10


3. Purchases and Leases of Real Property
Agencies may conduct executive sessions to consider the purchase or lease of real property, including, but not limited to,
the purchase or lease price and other relevant terms. This ability ceases once an option to purchase or lease the property
is obtained or once an agreement is obtained, if it was obtained directly without an option.


11
Conducting these


deliberations in executive sessions assists agencies because they are not required to disclose their negotiation strategy.







6


OPEN MEETINGS | THE SUNSHINE ACT
June 2015


4. Consulting with Attorneys/Advisers Regarding Litigation Strategy
An agency may use executive sessions to “consult with its attorney or other professional adviser regarding information or
strategy in connection with litigation or with issues on which identifiable complaints are expected to be filed.”


12
The courts


have made clear that executive sessions to discuss litigation matters are appropriate under the Sunshine Act “because if
knowledge of litigation strategy, the amount of settlement offers or of potential claims became public, it would damage the
municipality’s ability to settle or defend those matters and all the citizens would bear the cost of that disclosure.”


13
This


section covers those private consultations between the agency and its counsel or advisors regarding litigation strategy.
14


“The public would be better served when the governing body can have private discussions regarding litigation.”
15


However, once an agency admits a third party, the executive session exception no longer applies. For example, the
Commonwealth Court found a school district in violation of the Sunshine Act because it permitted the opposing party in
litigation to participate in what it called an executive session. The presence of the third party destroyed the
confidentiality of the communications between the school board and its solicitor and made the meeting inappropriate for
an executive session.


16


5. Privileged and Confidential Business
Agencies may conduct executive sessions to “review and discuss agency business which, if conducted in public, would violate
a lawful privilege or lead to the disclosure of information or confidentiality protected by law, including matters related to the
initiation and conduct of investigations or possible or certain violations of the law and quasi-judicial deliberations.”


17


There are numerous examples of situations where agencies would necessarily disclose privileged or confidential
information if they discussed a matter outside of an executive session. For example, a school board may have an
executive session with its superintendent to discuss the possible suspension of a student.


18 


Agencies may also conduct quasi-judicial deliberations in executive sessions. A classic example would be a zoning
hearing board, which is characterized predominantly by judicial characteristics and functions. The courts have noted
that zoning hearing boards must sometimes choose between unpalatable alternatives and deliberate over matters so
charged with emotion that deliberations “must be cloaked with the protection of privacy.”


19
Likewise, the Pennsylvania


Gaming Control Board was permitted to consider applications for slot machine licenses during an executive session
because those considerations were quasi-judicial deliberations.


20


6. Academic Admissions or Standing
Committees of a board or council of trustees of a state-owned, state-aided, or state-related college or university or
community college or of the Board of Governors of the State System of Higher Education may use executive sessions to
discuss matters of academic admission or standing.


21


Agencies may only hold executive sessions during an open meeting, at the conclusion of an open meeting, or as
announced for a future time. While there is no time limit on the length of an executive session, agency members must be
notified of an executive session at least 24 hours in advance. Agencies must also announce the purpose of the executive
session immediately before or after the executive session.


22
The announcement must provide meaningful information as


to the purpose of the session. For example, when having an executive session to discuss litigation matters, it is not
sufficient to simply announce that the agency plans to discuss litigation matters. Instead, the agency must identify the
subject of the litigation.


23 


Conferences
Agencies are permitted to participate in conferences that are not open to the public, provided that no deliberations take
place at the conference.


24
A “conference” is defined in the Sunshine Act as “[a]ny training program or seminar, or any


session arranged by state or federal agencies for local agencies, organized and conducted for the sole purpose of
providing information to agency members on matters directly related to their official responsibilities.”


25
Examples of such


conferences would be county or statewide conferences of municipal officials.







7


OPEN MEETINGS | THE SUNSHINE ACT
June 2015


Agencies should also be careful not to conduct private “briefing” sessions in which agency employees inform the
governing body about various issues or concerns, if the governing body engages in deliberations or takes official action
during those sessions. Under the plain language of the Sunshine Act, those sessions are not “conferences” because they
are not training programs or seminars or other sessions arranged by state or federal agencies. 


Working Sessions of Auditors
Boards of auditors may conduct closed working sessions for the limited purpose of examining, analyzing, discussing, and
deliberating the various accounts and records for which they are responsible, so long as any official action takes place
during a public meeting.


26


Meetings conducted by boards or councils to discuss proposed budgets are not considered “working sessions” under the
Sunshine Act and should be treated as public meetings


References
1. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 707.
2. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 708(a)(1).
3. Mirror Printing Co., Inc. v. Altoona Area School Bd., 609 A.2d 917, 148 Pa.Cmwlth. 168 (1992).
4. Easton Area Joint Sewer Authority v. The Morning Call, Inc., 581 A.2d 684, 135 Pa.Cmwlth. 363 (1990).
5. The Morning Call, Inc. v. Board of School Directors of Southern Lehigh School Dist., 642 A.2d 619 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1994), appeal denied, 


539 Pa. 698 (1994).  
6. Preston v. Saucon Valley School Dist., 666 A.2d 1120 (Pa.Cmwlth. 1995).
7. Mirror Printing Co., Inc. v. Altoona Area School Dist., 609 A.2d 917, 148 Pa.Cmwlth. 169 (1992); 24 P.S. 11-1126 (Public School Code, Section


1126).
8. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 708(a)(2).
9. St. Clair Area School Dist. v. St. Clair Area Educ. Ass’n, 552 A.2d 1133, 123 Pa.Cmwlth. 62 (1988), appeal granted, 563 A.2d 500, 522 Pa. 615


(1989), affirmed, 579 A.2d 879, 525 Pa. 236 (1990), reargument denied (1990).
10. Lawrence County v. Brenner, 582 A.2d 79, 135 Pa.Cmwlth. 619 (1990), appeal denied, 593 A.2d 423, 527 Pa. 652, appeal denied, 593 A.2d 426,


527 Pa. 656 (1991).
11. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 708(a)(3).
12. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 708(a)(4).
13. Reading Eagle Co. v. Council of City of Reading, 627 A.2d 305, 156 Pa.Cmwlth. 412 (1993).
14. Trib Total Media, Inc. v. Highlands School Dist., 3 A.3d 695 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2010), appeal denied, 24 A.3d 865, 611 Pa. 648 (2011).
15. Reading Eagle Co. v. Council of City of Reading, 627 A.2d 305, 156 Pa.Cmwlth. 412 (1993).
16. Trib Total Media, Inc. v. Highlands School Dist., 3 A.3d 695 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2010), appeal denied, 611 Pa. 648 (2011).
17. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 708(a)(5).
18. Picone v. Bangor Area School Dist., 936 A.2d 556 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2007).
19. Kennedy v. Upper Milford Tp. Zoning Hearing Bd., 575 Pa. 105 (2003).
20. Riverwalk Casino, L.P. v. Pennsylvania Gaming Control Bd., 926 A.2d 926, 592 Pa. 505 (2007).
21. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 708(a)(6).
22. Reading Eagle Co. v. Council of City of Reading, 627 A.2d 305 (Pa.Cmwlth. 1993).
23. Butler v. Indian Lake Borough, 14 A.3d 185 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2011); Trib Total Media, Inc. v. Highlands School Dist., 3 A.3d 695 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2010),


appeal denied, 24 A.3d 865, 611 Pa. 648 (2011).
24. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 707(b).
25. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 703. 
26. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 707(c).







8


OPEN MEETINGS | THE SUNSHINE ACT
June 2015


IV. Public Notice 


The Sunshine Act establishes a right in members of the public to attend all meetings of agencies in which any agency
business is discussed or acted upon. To advance that right, agencies are required to notify the public of their meetings.


1


In order to comply with that “public notice” requirement, agencies must publish notice of the place, date, and time of the
meeting in a newspaper of general circulation in the political subdivision where the meeting will take place or in a
newspaper that has a larger paid circulation than every newspaper published in the political subdivision. Agencies must
also post a notice of the place, date, and time of the meeting at their principal office or at the public building where the
meeting will take place.


2
Agencies must provide the notice sufficiently in advance of the meeting for the notice to be


published or circulated within the political subdivision where (1) the principal office of the agency is located; or (2) the
meeting will occur.


3


In addition, agencies must also provide copies of the public notice, upon request, to any newspaper of general
circulation in the political subdivision where the meeting will be held, any radio or television station which regularly
broadcasts into the political subdivision, and any interested party, provided that they provide a self-addressed, stamped
envelope to the agency prior to the meeting.


4


Agencies must provide public notice of their first regular meeting of each year not less than three days in advance of the
meeting and the schedule for their remaining regular meetings. They must provide public notice at least 24 hours before
each special meeting or rescheduled regular or special meeting. There are no public notice requirements for emergency
meetings, but those meetings must still be open to the public to comply with the Sunshine Act.


5
Emergency meetings


must involve a real or potential emergency involving a clear and present danger to life or property, such as a natural
disaster.


6
For example, a court found that a school district’s action to adopt a redistricting plan was not worthy of an


emergency meeting, but determined that no one was harmed by the district’s lack of compliance.
7


In the event that an agency recesses or reconvenes a meeting, it must post a notice of the place, date, and time of the
meeting at its principal office or at the public building where the meeting will take place.


8


Notices need not contain a statement of the purpose of the meeting or a description of the business that will be
conducted at the meeting.


9
Nonetheless, it is common practice to provide that information, especially in the context of


special meetings, such as those that are called to discuss or adopt an agency budget or make significant changes in
land uses. But, professional licensing boards within the Pennsylvania Department of State must list each matter
involving a proposal to revoke, suspend, or restrict a license.


10


There is also no requirement that agencies provide notice of the cancelation of public meetings. However, such notice is
highly recommended as a courtesy to those citizens who planned to attend the meeting.


General Assembly. There are different notice requirements for meetings of the General Assembly within the Capitol
Complex. For sessions of the General Assembly, legislative committee meetings, conference committees, legislative
hearings, and meetings of legislative commissions, notice must be provided to the supervisor of the newsroom of the
State Capitol Building (along with 30 copies of the notice) at least one day before the meeting and the notice must be
posted at public places within the Capitol Building as directed by the Secretary of the Senate and the Clerk of the House
of Representatives.


11
In addition, committees may be called into session during open sessions of the Senate or House.


12







9


OPEN MEETINGS | THE SUNSHINE ACT
June 2015


References
1. Borough of East McKeesport v. Special/Temporary Civil Service Com’n of Borough of East McKeesport, 942 A.2d 274 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2008).
2. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 703.
3. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 709(b).
4. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 709(c).
5. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 709(a).
6. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 703.
7. In re Petition of Bd. of Directors of Hazleton Area School Dist., 527 A.2d 1091, 107 Pa.Cmwlth. 110 (1987).
8. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 703.
9. Devich v. Borough of Braddock, 602 A.2d 399, 144 Pa.Cmwlth. 578 (1992).
10. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 709(a).
11. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 709(d).
12. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 709(e).







10


OPEN MEETINGS | THE SUNSHINE ACT
June 2015


V. Public Participation


The Sunshine Act requires boards and councils of political subdivisions and authorities created by political subdivisions
to provide a reasonable opportunity for residents or taxpayers to comment on matters of concern, official action, or
deliberation before the board, council, or authority before they take official action.


1


The board or council may elect to accept all public comments at the beginning of each meeting or immediately prior to
each official action.


2
It may also limit comments to current business.


3


In addition, if the board or council determines that there would be insufficient time for public comment at a meeting, it
may defer the public comment period to the next regular meeting or a special meeting occurring in advance of the next
regular meeting.


4


It is also permissible to suspend a public meeting if there is an unexpected number of attendees.
5


Any person, including a nonresident, has the right to object at any time at any meeting to an alleged violation of the
Sunshine Act.


6
Agencies should be careful with respect to ejecting attendees from public meetings so as to ensure that


the attendees’ First Amendment rights are not violated.
7


It is important to note that Section 710.1 does not explicitly apply to all “agencies” otherwise subject to the Sunshine
Act, but rather only to governing boards and councils of political subdivisions and authorities created by them.
Therefore, appointed commissions, boards, and committees may not need to provide an opportunity for public comment.


In addition, agencies are permitted to establish a written policy regarding public comments and establish rules and
regulations for the conduct of public meetings. Among other things, they should identify when public comments will be
permitted, whether any time limits on public comments will be instituted, and how they will address situations in which a
large number of people wish to speak on the same topic. They can modify those rules at any time by official action.


8


References
1. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 710.1(a).
2. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 710.1(a).
3. Baravordeh v. Borough Council of Prospect Park, 706 A.2d 362 (Pa.Cmwlth. 1998), appeal denied, 725 A.2d 183, 555 Pa. 733 (1998).
4. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 710.1(a).
5. Sovich v. Shaughnessy, 705 A.2d 942 (Pa.Cmwlth. 1998).
6. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 710.1(c).
7. Galena v. Leone, 638 F.3d 186 (3d Cir. 2011).
8. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 710.







11


OPEN MEETINGS | THE SUNSHINE ACT
June 2015


VI. Recording of Votes and Meetings


Recording Votes
The Sunshine Act requires each member who votes on any resolution, rule, order, regulation, ordinance, or the setting of
official policy to cast their vote in a public meeting.


1
A “resolution” is a proposal pertaining to some matter that is


presented to an official body for consideration and, if adopted by vote, becomes the agency’s formal expression of
opinion or the will of the body adopted through a vote.


2
In addition, if the agency conducts a roll call vote, then each


member’s vote must be recorded.
3


Secret ballots are prohibited.
4


Minutes of Meetings
Agencies are required to keep written minutes of all open meetings. Those minutes must include the following: 1) the
date, time, and place of the meeting; 2) the names of the members present; 3) the substance of all official actions, and a
record by individual member of the roll call votes taken; and 4) the names of all citizens who appeared officially and the
subject of their testimony.


5


Attendees at public meetings are permitted to take their own notes.
6


Public’s Use of Recording Equipment 
The Sunshine Act grants any person attending a meeting of an agency, except the Pennsylvania Senate and House of
Representatives (both of which may adopt rules governing the recording or broadcast of their sessions, meetings, and
hearings), the right to record the proceedings with recording devices.


7
These include videotape equipment


8
and personal


devices, such as cell phones and tablet and laptop computers.


However, agencies are permitted to adopt and enforce reasonable rules for the use of recording devices.
9


For example,
agencies may restrict the locations from which recording devices may be used and take steps to ensure that the
recordings do not disrupt meetings.


Given the existence of this right, people who attend and/or participate in public meetings must expect that they or their
public comments will be recorded.


10
Attendees have no expectation of privacy under the Federal Wiretap Act while


attending public meetings.


References
1. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 705.
2. Public Opinion v. Chambersburg Area School Dist., 654 A.2d 284 (Pa.Cmwlth. 1995).
3. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 705.
4. Public Opinion v. Chambersburg Area School Dist., 654 A.2d 284 (Pa.Cmwlth. 1995).
5. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 706.
6. Commonwealth v. Swank, 72 Pa.D.&C.2d 754 (1975).
7. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 711.
8. Hain v. Board of School Directors of Reading School Dist., 641 A.2d 661, 163 Pa.Cmwlth. 479 (1994).
9. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 710.
10. Harman v. Wetzel, 766 F.Supp. 271 (E.D.Pa. 1991).  







12


OPEN MEETINGS | THE SUNSHINE ACT
June 2015


VII. Confidentiality


The Sunshine Act permits agencies to have closed meetings if their deliberations or official actions, if conducted in
public, would violate a lawful privilege or lead to the disclosure of information or confidentiality that is otherwise
protected by law, including matter related to the investigation of possible or certain violations of the law and quasi-
judicial deliberations.


1
For example, a borough was not required to vote and adopt charges against a police chief at an


open meeting because the issues giving rise to the proposed charges were under investigation by the district attorney.
2


References
1. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 716.
2. In re Blystone, 600 A.2d 672, 144 Pa.Cmwlth. 27 (1991), appeal denied, 626 A.2d 1159, 534 Pa. 641 (1993).







13


OPEN MEETINGS | THE SUNSHINE ACT
June 2015


VIII. Violations of the Sunshine Act


Legal Challenges
Any party that believes that an agency has committed a violation of the Sunshine Act is permitted to file a legal
challenge within either 30 days of the date of the open meeting or 30 days from the party’s discovery that the alleged
violation took place at a meeting that was not open. If the meeting was not open, then the challenge must be filed
within one year of the date of the meeting.


1
The form in which a party undertakes that challenge (complaint, writ, or


other means) is largely irrelevant.
2


The deadlines are strictly followed because the courts are exercising the power to
invalidate agency procedure.


3


The county courts of common pleas have original jurisdiction to hear challenges involving counties, municipalities, and
other local government entities.


4
The Commonwealth Court has original jurisdiction to hear challenges involving state


agencies.
5


There are no state administrative agencies that have authority to resolve alleged violations of the Sunshine Act.
6


The burden of proof is upon the challenger to prove that a violation of the Sunshine Act occurred.
7


Violations and Penalties
There are numerous ways in which violations of the Sunshine Act are addressed.


First, courts may enjoin any challenged action until they make a determination as to whether the action and meeting
complied with the Sunshine Act.


8
If the court then determines that a violation occurred, it may invalidate any actions


taken at the meeting.
9


But, even if a violation occurred, if no harm resulted, then a court may choose not to invalidate
the action.


10
For example, where an agency provided  substantial opportunity for comment during extensive public


meetings, a court refused to set aside a decision by a school board that violated the Sunshine Act.
11


Second, any member of an agency who participates in a meeting with the intent and purpose of violating the Sunshine
Act may be convicted of a summary offense. That member may also be subject to a fine of at least $100 and not more
than $1,000 for a first offense and a fine of at least $500 and not more than $2,000 for any subsequent offense.


12


Agencies are prohibited from paying the fines or reimbursing members for a fine resulting from a violation of the
Sunshine Act.


13


Third, if a court determines that an agency willfully or wantonly disregarded any part of the Sunshine Act, then the
agency will be reasonable for the challenging party’s attorney fees and litigation costs. Conversely, if the court
determines that a challenge was frivolous or had no substantial justification, then the agency may be entitled to its
attorney fees and litigation costs.


14


Curing Violations
In the event that an agency commits a violation of the Sunshine Act, it may cure that violation by ratifying the action at
a subsequent public meeting.


15


It is important to note that agencies cannot use their violation of the Sunshine Act as a “sword” to later get out of
unfavorable contracts or settlement agreements. In one case, a borough attempted to renege on a settlement agreement
that required it to complete a water project. The court held that to allow the borough to use its own alleged violation of
the Sunshine Act to avoid its contractual commitments was in violation of public policy.


16







14


OPEN MEETINGS | THE SUNSHINE ACT
June 2015


References
1. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 713.
2. Tom Mistick and Sons, Inc. v. City of Pittsburgh, 567 A.2d 1107, 130 Pa.Cmwlth. 234 (1989), appeal denied, 589 A.2d 695, 527 Pa. 606 (1990).  
3. Belitskus v. Hamlin Tp., 764 A.2d 669 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2000), appeal denied, 775 A.2d 809, 565 Pa. 676 (2001); Bologna v. St. Marys Area School Bd.,


699 A.2d 831 (Pa.Cmwlth. 1997); Day v. Civil Service Com’n of Borough of Carlisle, 931 A.2d 646, 593 Pa. 448 (2007).  
4. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 715; O’Hare v. County of Northampton, 782 A.2d 7 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2001).  
5. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 715.
6. Com., Dept. of Environmental Resources v. Steward, 357 A.2d 255, 24 Pa.Cmwlth. 493 (1976).  
7. Smith v. Township of Richmond, 82 A.3d 407 (Pa. 2013); Public Advocate v. Philadelphia Gas Com’n, 637 A.2d 676, 161 Pa.Cmwlth. 428 (1994),


appeal granted, 651 A.2d 545, 539 Pa. 660, reversed, 674 A.2d 1056, 544 Pa. 129 (1996).
8. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 713; Pennsylvania AFL-CIO by George v. Com., 683 A.2d 691 (Pa.Cmwlth. 1996).
9. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 713.  
10. Keenheel v. Com., Pennsylvania Securities Com’n, 579 A.2d 1358, 134 Pa.Cmwlth. 494 (1990); Ackerman v. Upper Mt. Bethel Tp., 567 A.2d 1116,


130 Pa.Cmwlth. 254 (1989).  
11. Bradford Area Educ. Ass’n by Lutz v. Bradford Area School Dist., 572 A.2d 1314, 132 Pa.Cmwlth. 385 (1990).
12. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 714(a); Borough of East McKeesport v. Special/Temporary Civil Service Com’n of Borough of East McKeesport, 942 A.2d 274


(Pa.Cmwlth. 2008).
13. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 714(b).
14. 65 Pa.C.S.A. § 714.1.
15. Smith v. Township of Richmond, 82 A.3d 407 (Pa. 2013); Kennedy v. Upper Milford Tp. Zoning Hearing Bd., 779 A.2d 1257 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2001),


appeal granted, 813 A.2d 846, 572 Pa. 714, reversed, 834 A.2d 1104, 575 Pa. 105 (2003); Lawrence County v. Brenner, 582 A.2d 79, 135
Pa.Cmwlth. 619 (1990), appeal denied, 593 A.2d 423, 527 Pa. 652 (1990), appeal denied, 593 A.2d 426, 527 Pa. 656 (1990).


16. Weest v. Borough of Wind Gap, 621 A.2d 1074, 153 Pa.Cmwlth. 330 (1993).







P
ennsylvania D


epartm
ent of C


om
m


unity &
 E


conom
ic D


evelopm
ent


G
overnor’s C


enter for Local G
overnm


ent S
ervices


C
om


m
onw


ealth K
eystone B


uilding
40


0
 N


orth S
treet, 4th Floor


H
arrisburg, PA


 17120
-0


225


U
SPS 100


A
PPRO


V
ED


 PO
LY








 


 
 


Pennsylvania’s New Right to Know Law 
Act 3 of 2008, as signed by Gov. Edward G. Rendell on February 14, 2008 


Effective January 1, 2009 


AN ACT 


Providing for access to public information, for a designated open-records officer in each Commonwealth 
agency, local agency, judicial agency and legislative agency, for procedure, for appeal of agency 
determination, for judicial review and for the Office of Open Records; imposing penalties; providing for 
reporting by State-related institutions; requiring the posting of certain State contract information on the 
Internet; and making related repeals. 


TABLE OF CONTENTS 


Chapter 1. Preliminary Provisions 
Section 101. Short title. 
Section 102. Definitions. 


Chapter 3. Requirements and Prohibitions 
Section 301. Commonwealth agencies. 
Section 302. Local agencies. 
Section 303. Legislative agencies. 
Section 304. Judicial agencies. 
Section 305. Presumption. 
Section 306. Nature of document. 


Chapter 5. Access 
Section 501. Scope of chapter. 
Section 502. Open-records officer. 
Section 503. Appeals officer. 
Section 504. Regulations and policies. 
Section 505. Uniform form. 
Section 506. Requests. 
Section 507. Retention of records. 


Chapter 7. Procedure 
Section 701. Access. 
Section 702. Requests. 
Section 703. Written requests. 
Section 704. Electronic access. 
Section 705. Creation of record. 
Section 706. Redaction. 
Section 707. Production of certain records. 
Section 708. Exceptions for public records. 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 2 


Chapter 9. Agency Response 
Section 901. General rule. 
Section 902. Extension of time. 
Section 903. Denial. 
Section 904. Certified copies. 
Section 905. Record discard. 


Chapter 11. Appeal of Agency Determination 
Section 1101. Filing of appeal. 
Section 1102. Appeals officers. 


Chapter 13. Judicial Review 
Section 1301. Commonwealth agencies, legislative agencies judicial agencies. 
Section 1302. Local agencies. 
Section 1303. Notice and records. 
Section 1304. Court costs and attorney fees. 
Section 1305. Penalties. 
Section 1306. Immunity. 
Section 1307. Fee limitations. 
Section 1308. Prohibition. 
Section 1309. Practice and procedure. 
Section 1310. Office of Open Records. 


Chapter 15. State-Related Institutions 
Section 1501. Definition. 
Section 1502. Reporting. 
Section 1503. Contents of report. 
Section 1504. Copies and posting. 


Chapter 17. State Contract Information 
Section 1701. Submission and retention of contracts. 
Section 1702. Public availability of contracts. 


Chapter 31. Miscellaneous Provisions 
Section 3101. Applicability. 
Section 3101.1. Relation to other law or judicial actions. 
Section 3101.2. Severability. 
Section 3102. Repeals. 
Section 3103. References. 
Section 3104. Effective date. 


 


 


 


 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 3 


The General Assembly of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania  hereby enacts as follows: 


CHAPTER 1. PRELIMINARY PROVISIONS 


Section 101. Short title. 


This act shall be known and may be cited as the Right-to-Know Law. 


Section 102. Definitions. 


The following words and phrases when used in this act shall have the meanings given to them in this section 
unless the context clearly indicates otherwise: 


“Administrative proceeding.” A proceeding by an agency the outcome of which is required to be based on 
a record or documentation prescribed by law or in which a statute or regulation is particularized in 
application to individuals. The term includes an appeal. 


“Agency.” A Commonwealth agency, a local agency, a judicial agency or a legislative agency. 


“Aggregated data.” A tabulation of data which relate to broad classes, groups or categories so that it is not 
possible to distinguish the properties of individuals within those classes, groups or categories. 


“Appeals officer.” As follows: 


(1) For a Commonwealth agency or a local agency, the appeals officer designated under section 503(a). 


(2) For a judicial agency, the individual designated under section 503(b). 


(3) For a legislative agency, the individual designated under section 503(c). 


(4) For the Attorney General, State Treasurer, Auditor General and local agencies in possession of criminal 
investigative records, the individual designated under section 503(d). 


“Commonwealth agency.” Any of the following: 


(1) Any office, department, authority, board, multistate agency or commission of the executive branch; an 
independent agency; and a State-affiliated entity. The term includes: 


(i) The Governor’s Office. 


(ii) The Office of Attorney General, the Department of the Auditor General and the Treasury 
Department. 


(iii) An organization established by the Constitution of Pennsylvania, a statute or an executive order 
which performs or is intended to perform an essential governmental function. 


(2) The term does not include a judicial or legislative agency. 


“Confidential proprietary information.” Commercial or financial information received by an agency: 


(1) which is privileged or confidential; and 


(2) the disclosure of which would cause substantial harm to the competitive position of the person that 
submitted the information. 


“Financial record.” Any of the following: 


(1) Any account, voucher or contract dealing with: 


(i) the receipt or disbursement of funds by an agency; or 


(ii) an agency’s acquisition, use or disposal of services, supplies, materials, equipment or property. 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 4 


(2) The salary or other payments or expenses paid to an officer or employee of an agency, including the 
name and title of the officer or employee. 


(3) A financial audit report. The term does not include work papers underlying an audit. 


“Homeland security.” Governmental actions designed to prevent, detect, respond to and recover from acts 
of terrorism, major disasters and other emergencies, whether natural or manmade. The term includes 
activities relating to the following: 


(1) emergency preparedness and response, including preparedness and response activities by volunteer 
medical, police, emergency management, hazardous materials and fire personnel; 


(2) intelligence activities; 


(3) critical infrastructure protection; 


(4) border security; 


(5) ground, aviation and maritime transportation security; 


(6) biodefense; 


(7) detection of nuclear and radiological materials; and (8) research on next-generation securities 
technologies. 


“Independent agency.” Any board, commission or other agency or officer of the Commonwealth, that is 
not subject to the policy supervision and control of the Governor. The term does not include a legislative 
or judicial agency. 


“Judicial agency.” A court of the Commonwealth or any other entity or office of the unified judicial system. 


“Legislative agency.” Any of the following: 


(1) The Senate. 


(2) The House of Representatives. 


(3) The Capitol Preservation Committee. 


(4) The Center for Rural Pennsylvania. 


(5) The Joint Legislative Air and Water Pollution Control and Conservation Committee. 


(6) The Joint State Government Commission. 


(7) The Legislative Budget and Finance Committee. 


(8) The Legislative Data Processing Committee. 


(9) The Independent Regulatory Review Commission. 


(10) The Legislative Reference Bureau. 


(11) The Local Government Commission. 


(12) The Pennsylvania Commission on Sentencing. 


(13) The Legislative Reapportionment Commission. 


(14) The Legislative Office of Research Liaison. 


(15) The Legislative Audit Advisory Commission. 


 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 5 


“Legislative record.” Any of the following relating to a legislative agency or a standing committee, 
subcommittee or conference committee of a legislative agency: 


(1) A financial record. 


(2) A bill or resolution that has been introduced and amendments offered thereto in committee or in 
legislative session, including resolutions to adopt or amend the rules of a chamber. 


(3) Fiscal notes. 


(4) A cosponsorship memorandum. 


(5) The journal of a chamber. 


(6) The minutes of, record of attendance of members at a public hearing or a public committee meeting 
and all recorded votes taken in a public committee meeting. 


(7) The transcript of a public hearing when available. 


(8) Executive nomination calendars. 


(9) The rules of a chamber. 


(10) A record of all recorded votes taken in a legislative session. 


(11) Any administrative staff manuals or written policies. 


(12) An audit report prepared pursuant to the act of June 30, 1970 (P.L.442, No.151) entitled, “An act 
implementing the provisions of Article VIII, section 10 of the Constitution of Pennsylvania, by 
designating the Commonwealth officers who shall be charged with the function of auditing the 
financial transactions after the occurrence thereof of the Legislative and Judicial branches of the 
government of the Commonwealth, establishing a Legislative Audit Advisory Commission, and 
imposing certain powers and duties on such commission.” 


(13) Final or annual reports required by law to be submitted to the General Assembly. 


(14) Legislative Budget and Finance Committee reports. 


(15) Daily Legislative Session Calendars and marked calendars. 


(16) A record communicating to an agency the official appointment of a legislative appointee. 


(17) A record communicating to the appointing authority the resignation of a legislative appointee. 


(18) Proposed regulations, final-form regulations and final-omitted regulations submitted to a legislative 
agency. 


(19) The results of public opinion surveys, polls, focus groups, marketing research or similar efforts 
designed to measure public opinion funded by a legislative agency. 


“Local agency.” Any of the following: 


(1) Any political subdivision, intermediate unit, charter school, cyber charter school or public trade or 
vocational school. 


(2) Any local, intergovernmental, regional or municipal agency, authority, council, board, commission or 
similar governmental entity. 


“Office of Open Records.” The Office of Open Records established in section 1310. 


“Personal financial information.” An individual’s personal credit, charge or debit card information; bank 
account information; bank, credit or financial statements; account or PIN numbers and other 
information relating to an individual’s personal finances. 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 6 


“Privilege.” The attorney-work product doctrine, the attorney-client privilege, the doctor-patient privilege, 
the speech and debate privilege or other privilege recognized by a court interpreting the laws of this 
Commonwealth. 


“Public record.” A record, including a financial record, of a Commonwealth or local agency that: 


(1) is not exempt under section 708; 


(2) is not exempt from being disclosed under any other Federal or State law or regulation or judicial order 
or decree; or 


(3) is not protected by a privilege. 


“Record.” Information, regardless of physical form or characteristics, that documents a transaction or 
activity of an agency and that is created, received or retained pursuant to law or in connection with a 
transaction, business or activity of the agency. The term includes a document, paper, letter, map, book, 
tape, photograph, film or sound recording, information stored or maintained electronically and a data-
processed or image- processed document. 


“Requester.” A person that is a legal resident of the United States and requests a record pursuant to this act. 
The term includes an agency. 


“Response.” Access to a record or an agency’s written notice to a requester granting, denying or partially 
granting and partially denying access to a record. 


“Social services.” Cash assistance and other welfare benefits, medical, mental and other health care services, 
drug and alcohol treatment, adoption services, vocational services and training, occupational training, 
education   services, counseling services, workers’ compensation services and unemployment 
compensation services, foster care services, services for the elderly, services for individuals with 
disabilities and services for victims of crimes and domestic violence. 


“State-affiliated entity.” A Commonwealth authority or Commonwealth entity. The term includes the 
Pennsylvania Higher Education Assistance Agency and any entity established thereby, the Pennsylvania 
Gaming Control Board, the Pennsylvania Game Commission, the Pennsylvania Fish and Boat 
Commission, the Pennsylvania Housing Finance Agency, the Pennsylvania Municipal Retirement Board, 
the State System of Higher Education, a community college, the Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission, the 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission, the Pennsylvania Infrastructure Investment Authority, the State 
Public School Building Authority, the Pennsylvania Interscholastic Athletic Association and the 
Pennsylvania Educational Facilities Authority. The term does not include a State-related institution. 


“State-related institution.” Includes: 


(1) Temple University. 


(2) The University of Pittsburgh. 


(3) The Pennsylvania State University. 


(4) Lincoln University. 


“Terrorist act.” A violent or life-threatening act that violates the criminal laws of the United States or any 
state and appears to be intended to: 


(1) intimidate or coerce a civilian population; 


(2) influence the policy of a government; or 


(3) affect the conduct of a government by mass destruction, assassination or kidnapping. 


“Trade secret.” Information, including a formula, drawing, pattern, compilation, including a customer list, 
program, device, method, technique or process that: 
(1) derives independent economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to and not 


being readily ascertainable by proper means by other persons who can obtain economic value from its 
disclosure or use; and 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 7 


(2) is the subject of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its secrecy. 


The term includes data processing software obtained by an agency under a licensing agreement prohibiting 
disclosure. 


CHAPTER 3. REQUIREMENTS AND PROHIBITIONS 


Section 301. Commonwealth agencies. 


(a) Requirement. — A Commonwealth agency shall provide public records in accordance with this act. 


(b) Prohibition. — A Commonwealth agency may not deny a requester access to a public record due to the 
intended use of the public record by the requester unless otherwise provided by law. 


Section 302. Local agencies. 


(a) Requirement. — A local agency shall provide public records in accordance with this act. 


(b) Prohibition. — A local agency may not deny a requester access to a public record due to the intended use 
of the public record by the requester unless otherwise provided by law. 


Section 303. Legislative agencies. 


(a) Requirement. — A legislative agency shall provide legislative records in accordance with this act. 


(b) Prohibition. — A legislative agency may not deny a requester access to a legislative record due to the 
intended use of the legislative record by the requester. 


Section 304. Judicial agencies. 


(a) Requirement. — A judicial agency shall provide financial records in accordance with this act or any rule 
or order of court providing equal or greater access to the records. 


(b) Prohibition. — A judicial agency may not deny a requester access to a financial record due to the 
intended use of the financial record by the requester. 


Section 305. Presumption. 


(a) General rule. — A record in the possession of a Commonwealth agency or local agency shall be presumed 
to be a public record. The presumption shall not apply if: 


(1) the record is exempt under section 708; 


(2) the record is protected by a privilege; or 


(3) the record is exempt from disclosure under any other Federal or State law or regulation or judicial order 
or decree. 


(b) Legislative records and financial records. — A legislative record in the possession of a legislative 
agency and a financial record in the possession of a judicial agency shall be presumed to be available in 
accordance with this act. The presumption shall not apply if: 


(1) the record is exempt under section 708; 


(2) the record is protected by a privilege; or 


(3) the record is exempt from disclosure under any other Federal or State law, regulation or judicial order 
or decree. 


Section 306. Nature of document. 


Nothing in this act shall supersede or modify the public or nonpublic nature of a record or document 
established in Federal or State law, regulation or judicial order or decree. 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 8 


CHAPTER 5. ACCESS 


Section 501. Scope of chapter. 


This chapter applies to all agencies. 


Section 502. Open-records officer. 


(a) Establishment. —  


(1) An agency shall designate an official or employee to act as the open-records officer. 


(2) For a legislative agency other than the Senate or the House of Representatives, the open-records officer 
designated by the Legislative Reference Bureau shall serve as the open-records officer. 
Notwithstanding paragraph (1), a political party caucus of a legislative agency may appoint an open-
records officer under this section. 


(b) Functions. —  


(1) The open-records officer shall receive requests submitted to the agency under this act, direct requests 
to other appropriate persons within the agency or to appropriate persons in another agency, track the 
agency’s progress in responding to requests and issue interim and final responses under this act. 


(2) Upon receiving a request for a public record, legislative record or financial record, the open-records 
officer shall do all of the following: 


(i) Note the date of receipt on the written request. 


(ii) Compute the day on which the five-day period under section 901 will expire and make a notation 
of that date on the written request. 


(iii) Maintain an electronic or paper copy of a written request, including all documents submitted with 
the request until the request has been fulfilled. If the request is denied, the written request shall 
be maintained for 30 days or, if an appeal is filed, until a final determination is issued under 
section 1101(b) or the appeal is deemed denied. 


(iv) Create a file for the retention of the original request, a copy of the response, a record of written 
communications with the requester and a copy of other communications. This subparagraph shall 
only apply to Commonwealth agencies. 


Section 503. Appeals officer. 


(a) Commonwealth agencies and local agencies. — Except as provided in subsection (d), the Office of 
Open Records established under section 1310 shall designate an appeals officer under section 1101(a)(2) for 
all: 


(1) Commonwealth agencies; and 


(2) local agencies. 


(b) Judicial agencies. — A judicial agency shall designate an appeals officer to hear appeals under Chapter 11. 


(c) Legislative agencies. —  


(1) Except as set forth in paragraph (2), the Legislative Reference Bureau shall designate an appeals officer 
to hear appeals under Chapter 11 for all legislative agencies. 


(2) Each of the following shall designate an appeals officer to hear appeals under Chapter 11: 


(i) The Senate. 


(ii) The House of Representatives. 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 9 


(d) Law enforcement records and Statewide officials. —  


(1) The Attorney General, State Treasurer and Auditor General shall each designate an appeals officer to 
hear appeals under Chapter 11. 


(2) The district attorney of a county shall designate one or more appeals officers to hear appeals under 
Chapter 11 relating to access to criminal investigative records in possession of a local agency of that 
county. The appeals officer designated by the district attorney shall determine if the record requested 
is a criminal investigative record. 


Section 504. Regulations and policies. 


(a) Authority. — An agency may promulgate regulations and policies necessary for the agency to implement 
this act. The Office of Open Records may promulgate regulations relating to appeals involving a 
Commonwealth agency or local agency. 


(b) Posting. — The following information shall be posted at each agency and, if the agency maintains an 
Internet website, on the agency’s Internet website: 


(1) Contact information for the open-records officer. 


(2) Contact information for the Office of Open Records or other applicable appeals officer. 


(3) A form which may be used to file a request. 


(4) Regulations, policies and procedures of the agency relating to this act. 


Section 505. Uniform form. 


(a) Commonwealth and local agencies. — The Office of Open Records shall develop a uniform form 
which shall be accepted by all Commonwealth and local agencies in addition to any form used by the 
agency to file a request under this act. The uniform form shall be published in the Pennsylvania Bulletin 
and on the Office of Open Record’s Internet website. 


(b) Judicial agencies. — A judicial agency or the Administrative Office of Pennsylvania Courts may develop 
a form to request financial records or may accept a form developed by the Office of Open Records. 


(c) Legislative agencies. — A legislative agency may develop a form to request legislative records or may 
accept the form developed by the Office of Open Records. 


Section 506. Requests. 


(a) Disruptive requests. —  


(1) An agency may deny a requester access to a record if the requester has made repeated requests for that 
same record and the repeated requests have placed an unreasonable burden on the agency. 


(2) A denial under this subsection shall not restrict the ability to request a different record. 


(b) Disaster or potential damage. —  


(1) An agency may deny a requester access: 


(i) when timely access is not possible due to fire, flood or other disaster; or 


(ii) to historical, ancient or rare documents, records, archives and manuscripts when access may, in the 
professional judgment of the curator or custodian of records, cause physical damage or irreparable 
harm to the record. 


(2) To the extent possible, the contents of a record under this subsection shall be made accessible to a 
requester even when the record is physically unavailable. 


(c) Agency discretion. — An agency may exercise its discretion to make any otherwise exempt record 
accessible for inspection and copying under this chapter, if all of the following apply: 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 10 


(1) Disclosure of the record is not prohibited under any of the following: 


(i) Federal or State law or regulation. 


(ii) Judicial order or decree. 


(2) The record is not protected by a privilege. 


(3) The agency head determines that the public interest favoring access outweighs any individual, agency or 
public interest that may favor restriction of access. 


(d) Agency possession. —  


(1) A public record that is not in the possession of an agency but is in the possession of a party with whom 
the agency has contracted to perform a governmental function on behalf of the agency, and which 
directly relates to the governmental function and is not exempt under this act, shall be considered a 
public record of the agency for purposes of this act. 


(2) Nothing in this act shall be construed to require access to any other record of the party in possession of 
the public record. 


(3) A request for a public record in possession of a party other than the agency shall be submitted to the 
open records officer of the agency. Upon a determination that the record is subject to access under 
this act, the open records officer shall assess the duplication fee established under section 1307(b) and 
upon collection shall remit the fee to the party in possession of the record if the party duplicated the 
record. 


Section 507. Retention of records. 


Nothing in this act shall be construed to modify, rescind or supersede any record retention policy or 
disposition schedule of an agency established pursuant to law, regulation, policy or other directive. 


CHAPTER 7 PROCEDURE 


Section 701. Access. 


(a) General rule. — Unless otherwise provided by law, a public record, legislative record or financial record 
shall be accessible for inspection and duplication in accordance with this act. A record being provided to a 
requester shall be provided in the medium requested if it exists in that medium; otherwise, it shall be 
provided in the medium in which it exists. Public records, legislative records or financial records shall be 
available for access during the regular business hours of an agency. 


(b) Construction. — Nothing in this act shall be construed to require access to any computer either of an 
agency or individual employee of an agency. 


Section 702. Requests. 


Agencies may fulfill verbal, written or anonymous verbal or written requests for access to records under this 
act. If the requester wishes to pursue the relief and remedies provided for in this act, the request for 
access to records must be a written request. 


Section 703. Written requests. 


A written request for access to records may be submitted in person, by mail, by e-mail, by facsimile or, to the 
extent provided by agency rules, any other electronic means. A written request must be addressed to the 
open-records officer designated pursuant to section 502. Employees of an agency shall be directed to 
forward requests for records to the open-records officer. A written request should identify or describe the 
records sought with sufficient specificity to enable the agency to ascertain which records are being 
requested and shall include the name and address to which the agency should address its response. A 
written request need not include any explanation of the requester’s reason for requesting or intended use 
of the records unless otherwise required by law. 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 11 


Section 704. Electronic access. 


(a) General rule. — In addition to the requirements of section 701, an agency may make its records available 
through any publicly accessible electronic means. 


(b) Response. —  


(1) In addition to the requirements of section 701, an agency may respond to a request by notifying the 
requester that the record is available through publicly accessible electronic means or that the agency 
will provide access to inspect the record electronically. 


(2) If the requester is unwilling or unable to access the record electronically, the requester may, within 30 
days following receipt of the agency notification, submit a written request to the agency to have the 
record converted to paper. The agency shall provide access to the record in printed form within five 
days of the receipt of the written request for conversion to paper. 


Section 705. Creation of record. 


When responding to a request for access, an agency shall not be required to create a record which does not 
currently exist or to compile, maintain, format or organize a record in a manner in which the agency does 
not currently compile, maintain, format or organize the record. 


Section 706. Redaction. 


If an agency determines that a public record, legislative record or financial record contains information which 
is subject to access as well as information which is not subject to access, the agency’s response shall grant 
access to the information which is subject to access and deny access to the information which is not 
subject to access. If the information which is not subject to access is an integral part of the public record, 
legislative record or financial record and cannot be separated, the agency shall redact from the record the 
information which is not subject to access, and the response shall grant access to the information which is 
subject to access. The agency may not deny access to the record if the information which is not subject to 
access is able to be redacted. Information which an agency redacts in accordance with this subsection 
shall be deemed a denial under Chapter 9. 


Section 707. Production of certain records. 


(a) General rule. — If, in response to a request, an agency produces a record that is not a public record, 
legislative record or financial record, the agency shall notify any third party that provided the record to 
the agency, the person that is the subject of the record and the requester. 


(b) Requests for trade secrets. — An agency shall notify a third party of a request for a record if the third 
party provided the record and included a written statement signed by a representative of the third party 
that the record contains a trade secret or confidential proprietary information. 


Notification shall be provided within five business days of receipt of the request for the record. The third 
party shall have five business days from receipt of notification from the agency to provide input on the 
release of the record. The agency shall deny the request for the record or release the record within ten 
business days of the provision of notice to the third party and shall notify the third party of the decision. 


(c) Transcripts. —  


(1) Prior to an adjudication becoming final, binding and nonappealable, a transcript of an administrative 
proceeding shall be provided to a requester by the agency stenographer or a court reporter, in 
accordance with agency procedure or an applicable contract. 


(2) Following an adjudication becoming final, binding and nonappealable, a transcript of an administrative 
proceeding shall be provided to a requester in accordance with the duplication rates established in 
section 1307(b). 


 


 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 12 


Section 708. Exceptions for public records. 


(a) Burden of proof. —  


(1) The burden of proving that a record of a Commonwealth agency or local agency is exempt from public 
access shall be on the Commonwealth agency or local agency receiving a request by a preponderance 
of the evidence. 


(2) The burden of proving that a legislative record is exempt from public access shall be on the legislative 
agency receiving a request by a preponderance of the evidence. 


(3) The burden of proving that a financial record of a judicial agency is exempt from public access shall be 
on the judicial agency receiving a request by a preponderance of the evidence. 


(b) Exceptions. — Except as provided in subsections (c) and (d), the following are exempt from access by a 
requester under this act: 


(1) A record the disclosure of which: 


(i) would result in the loss of Federal or State funds by an agency or the Commonwealth; or 


(ii) would be reasonably likely to result in a substantial and demonstrable risk of physical harm to or 
the personal security of an individual. 


(2) A record maintained by an agency in connection with the military, homeland security, national defense, 
law enforcement or other public safety activity that if disclosed would be reasonably likely to 
jeopardize or threaten public safety or preparedness or public protection activity or a record that is 
designated classified by an appropriate Federal or State military authority. 


(3) A record, the disclosure of which creates a reasonable likelihood of endangering the safety or the 
physical security of a building, public utility, resource, infrastructure, facility or information storage 
system, which may include: 


(i) documents or data relating to computer hardware, source files, software and system networks that 
could jeopardize computer security by exposing a vulnerability in preventing, protecting against, 
mitigating or responding to a terrorist act; 


(ii) lists of infrastructure, resources and significant special events, including those defined by the 
Federal Government in the National Infrastructure Protections, which are deemed critical due to 
their nature and which result from risk analysis; threat assessments; consequences assessments; 
antiterrorism protective measures and plans; counterterrorism measures and plans; and security 
and response needs assessments; and 


(iii) building plans or infrastructure records that expose or create vulnerability through disclosure of 
the location, configuration or security of critical systems, including public utility systems, 
structural elements, technology, communication, electrical, fire suppression, ventilation, water, 
wastewater, sewage and gas systems. 


(4) A record regarding computer hardware, software and networks, including administrative or technical 
records, which, if disclosed, would be reasonably likely to jeopardize computer security. 


(5) A record of an individual’s medical, psychiatric or psychological history or disability status, including an 
evaluation, consultation, prescription, diagnosis or treatment; results of tests, including drug tests; 
enrollment in a health care program or program designed for participation by persons with 
disabilities, including vocation rehabilitation, workers’ compensation and unemployment 
compensation; or related information that would disclose individually identifiable health information. 


(6)   (i) The following personal identification information: 


(A) A record containing all or part of a person’s Social Security number; driver’s license number; 
personal financial information; home, cellular or personal telephone numbers; personal e- 
mail addresses; employee number or other confidential personal identification number. 


 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 13 


(B) A spouse’s name; marital status, beneficiary or dependent information. 


(C) The home address of a law enforcement officer or judge. 


(ii) Nothing in this paragraph shall preclude the release of the name, position, salary, actual 
compensation or other payments or expenses, employment contract, employment-related 
contract or agreement and length of service of a public official or an agency employee. 


(iii) An agency may redact the name or other identifying information relating to an individual 
performing an undercover or covert law enforcement activity from a record. 


(7) The following records relating to an agency employee: 


(i) A letter of reference or recommendation pertaining to the character or qualifications of an 
identifiable individual, unless it was prepared in relation to the appointment of an individual to 
fill a vacancy in an elected office or an appointed office requiring Senate confirmation. 


(ii) A performance rating or review. 


(iii) The result of a civil service or similar test administered by a Commonwealth agency, legislative 
agency or judicial agency. The result of a civil service or similar test administered by a local agency 
shall not be disclosed if restricted by a collective bargaining agreement. Only test scores of 
individuals who obtained a passing score on a test administered by a local agency may be 
disclosed. 


(iv) The employment application of an individual who is not hired by the agency. 


(v) Workplace support services program information. 


(vi) Written criticisms of an employee. 


(vii) Grievance material, including documents related to discrimination or sexual harassment. 


(viii) Information regarding discipline, demotion or discharge contained in a personnel file. This 
subparagraph shall not apply to the final action of an agency that results in demotion or discharge. 


(ix) An academic transcript. 


(8)   (i) A record pertaining to strategy or negotiations relating to labor relations or collective bargaining 
and related arbitration proceedings. This subparagraph shall not apply to a final or executed contract 
or agreement between the parties in a collective bargaining procedure. 


(ii) In the case of the arbitration of a dispute or grievance under a collective bargaining agreement, an 
exhibit entered into evidence at an arbitration proceeding, a transcript of the arbitration or the 
opinion. This subparagraph shall not apply to the final award or order of the arbitrator in a dispute 
or grievance procedure. 


(9) The draft of a bill, resolution, regulation, statement of policy, management directive, ordinance or 
amendment thereto prepared by or for an agency. 


(10) (i) A record that reflects: 


(A) The internal, predecisional deliberations of an agency, its members, employees or officials or 
predecisional deliberations between agency members, employees or officials and members, 
employees or officials of another agency, including predecisional deliberations relating to a 
budget recommendation, legislative proposal, legislative amendment, contemplated or 
proposed policy or course of action or any research, memos or other documents used in the 
predecisional deliberations. 


(B) The strategy to be used to develop or achieve the successful adoption of a budget, legislative 
proposal or regulation. 


 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 14 


(ii) Subparagraph (i)(A) shall apply to agencies subject to 65 Pa.C.S. Ch. 7 (relating to open meetings) in 
a manner consistent with 65 Pa.C.S. Ch. 7. A record which is not otherwise exempt from access 
under this act and which is presented to a quorum for deliberation in accordance with 65 Pa.C.S. 
Ch. 7 shall be a public record. 


(iii) This paragraph shall not apply to a written or Internet application or other document that has 
been submitted to request Commonwealth funds. 


(iv) This paragraph shall not apply to the results of public opinion surveys, polls, focus groups, 
marketing research or similar effort designed to measure public opinion. 


(11) A record that constitutes or reveals a trade secret or confidential proprietary information. 


(12) Notes and working papers prepared by or for a public official or agency employee used solely for that 
official’s or employee’s own personal use, including telephone message slips, routing slips and other 
materials that do not have an official purpose. 


(13) Records that would disclose the identity of an individual who lawfully makes a donation to an agency 
unless the donation is intended for or restricted to providing remuneration or personal tangible 
benefit to a named public official or employee of the agency, including lists of potential donors 
compiled by an agency to pursue donations, donor profile information or personal identifying 
information relating to a donor. 


(14) Unpublished lecture notes, unpublished manuscripts, unpublished articles, creative works in progress, 
research-related material and scholarly correspondence of a community college or an institution of the 
State System of Higher Education or a faculty member, staff employee, guest speaker or student 
thereof. 


(15)  (i) Academic transcripts 


(ii) Examinations, examination questions, scoring keys or answers to examinations. This subparagraph 
shall include licensing and other examinations relating to the qualifications of an individual and to 
examinations given in primary and secondary schools and institutions of higher education. 


(16) A record of an agency relating to or resulting in a criminal investigation, including: 


(i) Complaints of potential criminal conduct other than a private criminal complaint. 


(ii) Investigative materials, notes, correspondence, videos and reports. 


(iii) A record that includes the identity of a confidential source or the identity of a suspect who has not 
been charged with an offense to whom confidentiality has been promised. 


(iv) A record that includes information made confidential by law or court order. 


(v) Victim information, including any information that would jeopardize the safety of the victim. 


(vi) A record that, if disclosed, would do any of the following: 


(A) Reveal the institution, progress or result of a criminal investigation, except the filing of 
criminal charges. 


(B) Deprive a person of the right to a fair trial or an impartial adjudication. 


(C) Impair the ability to locate a defendant or codefendant. 


(D) Hinder an agency’s ability to secure an arrest, prosecution or conviction. 


(E) Endanger the life or physical safety of an individual. 


This paragraph shall not apply to information contained in a police blotter as defined in 18 Pa.C.S. § 9102 
(relating to definitions) and utilized or maintained by the Pennsylvania State Police, local, campus, 
transit or port authority police department or other law enforcement agency or in a traffic report 
except as provided under 75 Pa.C.S. § 3754(b) (relating to accident prevention investigations). 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 15 


(17) A record of an agency relating to a noncriminal investigation, including: 


(i) Complaints submitted to an agency. 


(ii) Investigative materials, notes, correspondence and reports. 


(iii) A record that includes the identity of a confidential source, including individuals subject to the act 
of December 12, 1986 (P.L.1559, No.169), known as the Whistleblower Law. 


(iv) A record that includes information made confidential by law. 


(v) Work papers underlying an audit. 


(vi) A record that, if disclosed, would do any of the following: 


(A) Reveal the institution, progress or result of an agency investigation, except the imposition of a 
fine or civil penalty, the suspension, modification or revocation of a license, permit, 
registration, certification or similar authorization issued by an agency or an executed 
settlement agreement unless the agreement is determined to be confidential by a court. 


(B) Deprive a person of the right to an impartial adjudication. 


(C) Constitute an unwarranted invasion of privacy. 


(D) Hinder an agency’s ability to secure an administrative or civil sanction. 


(E) Endanger the life or physical safety of an individual. 


(18) (i) Records or parts of records, except time response logs, pertaining to audio recordings, telephone or 
radio transmissions received by emergency dispatch personnel, including 911 recordings. 


(ii) This paragraph shall not apply to a 911 recording, or a transcript of a 911 recording, if the agency or 
a court determines that the public interest in disclosure outweighs the interest in nondisclosure. 


(19) DNA and RNA records. 


(20) An autopsy record of a coroner or medical examiner and any audiotape of a postmortem examination 
or autopsy, or a copy, reproduction or facsimile of an autopsy report, a photograph, negative or print, 
including a photograph or videotape of the body or any portion of the body of a deceased person at 
the scene of death or in the course of a postmortem examination or autopsy taken or made by or 
caused to be taken or made by the coroner or medical examiner. This exception shall not limit the 
reporting of the name of the deceased individual and the cause and manner of death. 


(21) (i) Draft minutes of any meeting of an agency until the next regularly scheduled meeting of the agency. 


(ii) Minutes of an executive session and any record of discussions held in executive session. 


(22) (i) The contents of real estate appraisals, engineering or feasibility estimates, environmental reviews, 
audits or evaluations made for or by an agency relative to the following: 


(A) The leasing, acquiring or disposing of real property or an interest in real property. 
(B) The purchase of public supplies or equipment included in the real estate transaction. 
(C) Construction projects. 


(ii) This paragraph shall not apply once the decision is made to proceed with the lease, acquisition or 
disposal of real property or an interest in real property or the purchase of public supply or 
construction project. 


(23) Library and archive circulation and order records of an identifiable individual or groups of individuals. 


(24) Library archived and museum materials, or valuable or rare book collections or documents contributed 
by gift, grant, bequest or devise, to the extent of any limitations imposed by the donor as a condition 
of the contribution. 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 16 


(25) A record identifying the location of an archeological site or an endangered or threatened plant or 
animal species if not already known to the general public. 


(26) A proposal pertaining to agency procurement or disposal of supplies, services or construction prior to 
the award of the contract or prior to the opening and rejection of all bids; financial information of a 
bidder or offeror requested in an invitation for bid or request for proposals to demonstrate the 
bidder’s or offeror’s economic capability; or the identity of members, notes and other records of 
agency proposal evaluation committees established under 62 Pa.C.S. § 513 (relating to competitive 
sealed proposals). 


(27) A record or information relating to a communication between an agency and its insurance carrier, 
administrative service organization or risk management office. This paragraph shall not apply to a 
contract with an insurance carrier, administrative service organization or risk management office or to 
financial records relating to the provision of insurance. 


(28) A record or information: 


(i) identifying an individual who applies for or receives social services; or 


(ii) relating to the following: 


(A) the type of social services received by an individual; 


(B) an individual’s application to receive social services, including a record or information related 
to an agency decision to grant, deny, reduce or restrict benefits, including a quasi-judicial 
decision of the agency and the identity of a caregiver or others who provide services to the 
individual; or 


(C) eligibility to receive social services, including the individual’s income, assets, physical or mental 
health, age, disability, family circumstances or record of abuse. 


(29) Correspondence between a person and a member of the General Assembly and records accompanying 
the correspondence which would identify a person that requests assistance or constituent services. 
This paragraph shall not apply to correspondence between a member of the General Assembly and a 
principal or lobbyist under 65 Pa.C.S. Ch. 13A (relating to lobbyist disclosure). 


(30) A record identifying the name, home address or date of birth of a child 17 years of age or younger. 


(c) Financial records. — The exceptions set forth in subsection (b) shall not apply to financial records, except 
that an agency may redact that portion of a financial record protected under subsection (b)(1), (2), (3), (4), 
(5), (6), (16) OR (17). An agency shall not disclose the identity of an individual performing an undercover or 
covert law enforcement activity. 


(d) Aggregated data. — The exceptions set forth in subsection (b) shall not apply to aggregated data 
maintained or received by an agency, except for data protected under subsection (b)(1), (2), (3), (4) or (5). 


(e) Construction. — In determining whether a record is exempt from access under this section, an agency shall 
consider and apply each exemption separately. 


CHAPTER 9 AGENCY RESPONSE 


Section 901. General rule. 


Upon receipt of a written request for access to a record, an agency shall make a good faith effort to determine 
if the record requested is a public record, legislative record or financial record and whether the agency has 
possession, custody or control of the identified record, and to respond as promptly as possible under the 
circumstances existing at the time of the request. All applicable fees shall be paid in order to receive 
access to the record requested. The time for response shall not exceed five business days from the date 
the written request is received by the open-records officer for an agency. If the agency fails to send the 
response within five business days of receipt of the written request for access, the written request for 
access shall be deemed denied. 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 17 


Section 902. Extension of time. 


(a) Determination. — Upon receipt of a written request for access, the open-records officer for an agency 
shall determine if one of the following applies: 


(1) the request for access requires redaction of a record in accordance with section 706; 


(2) the request for access requires the retrieval of a record stored in a remote location; 


(3) a timely response to the request for access cannot be accomplished due to bona fide and specified 
staffing limitations; 


(4) a legal review is necessary to determine whether the record is a record subject to access under this act; 


(5) the requester has not complied with the agency’s policies regarding access to records; 


(6) the requester refuses to pay applicable fees authorized by this act; or 


(7) the extent or nature of the request precludes a response within the required time period. 


(b) Notice. —  


(1) Upon a determination that one of the factors listed in subsection (a) applies, the open-records officer 
shall send written notice to the requester within five business days of receipt of the request for access 
under subsection (a). 


(2) The notice shall include a statement notifying the requester that the request for access is being 
reviewed, the reason for the review, a reasonable date that a response is expected to be provided and 
an estimate of applicable fees owed when the record becomes available. If the date that a response is 
expected to be provided is in excess of 30 days, following the five business days allowed for in section 
901, the request for access shall be deemed denied unless the requester has agreed in writing to an 
extension to the date specified in the notice. 


(3) If the requester agrees to the extension, the request shall be deemed denied on the day following the 
date specified in the notice if the agency has not provided a response by that date. 


Section 903. Denial. 


If an agency’s response is a denial of a written request for access, whether in whole or in part, the denial shall 
be issued in writing and shall include: 


(1) A description of the record requested. 


(2) The specific reasons for the denial, including a citation of supporting legal authority. 


(3) The typed or printed name, title, business address, business telephone number and signature of the 
open-records officer on whose authority the denial is issued. 


(4) Date of the response. 


(5) The procedure to appeal the denial of access under this act. 


Section 904. Certified copies. 


If an agency’s response grants a request for access, the agency shall, upon request, provide the requester with a 
certified copy of the record if the requester pays the applicable fees under section 1307. 


Section 905. Record discard. 


If an agency response to a requester states that copies of the requested records are available for delivery at the 
office of an agency and the requester fails to retrieve the records within 60 days of the agency’s response, 
the agency may dispose of any copies which have not been retrieved and retain any fees paid to date. 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 18 


CHAPTER 11. APPEAL OF AGENCY DETERMINATION 


Section 1101. Filing of appeal. 


(a) Authorization. —  


(1) If a written request for access to a record is denied or deemed denied, the requester may file an appeal 
with the Office of Open Records or judicial, legislative or other appeals officer designated under 
section 503(d) within 15 business days of the mailing date of the agency’s response or within 15 
business days of a deemed denial. The appeal shall state the grounds upon which the requester asserts 
that the record is a public record, legislative record or financial record and shall address any grounds 
stated by the agency for delaying or denying the request. 


(2) Except as provided in section 503(d), in the case of an appeal of a decision by a Commonwealth agency 
or local agency, the Office of Open Records shall assign an appeals officer to review the denial. 


(b) Determination. —  


(1) Unless the requester agrees otherwise, the appeals officer shall make a final determination which shall 
be mailed to the requester and the agency within 30 days of receipt of the appeal filed under 
subsection (a). 


(2) If the appeals officer fails to issue a final determination within 30 days, the appeal is deemed denied. 


(3) Prior to issuing a final determination, a hearing may be conducted. The determination by the appeals 
officer shall be a final order. The appeals officer shall provide a written explanation of the reason for 
the decision to the requester and the agency. 


(c) Direct interest. —  


(1) A person other than the agency or requester with a direct interest in the record subject to an appeal 
under this section may, within 15 days following receipt of actual knowledge of the appeal but no later 
than the date the appeals officer issues an order, file a written request to provide information or to 
appear before the appeals officer or to file information in support of the requester’s or agency’s 
position. 


(2) The appeals officer may grant a request under paragraph (1) if: 


(i) no hearing has been held; 


(ii) the appeals officer has not yet issued its order; and 


(iii) the appeals officer believes the information will be probative. 


(3) Copies of the written request shall be sent to the agency and the requester. 


Section 1102. Appeals officers. 


(a) Duties. — An appeals officer designated under section 503 shall do all of the following: 


(1) Set a schedule for the requester and the open- records officer to submit documents in support of their 
positions. 


(2) Review all information filed relating to the request. The appeals officer may hold a hearing. A decision 
to hold or not to hold a hearing is not appealable. The appeals officer may admit into evidence 
testimony, evidence and documents that the appeals officer believes to be reasonably probative and 
relevant to an issue in dispute. The appeals officer may limit the nature and extent of evidence found 
to be cumulative. 


(3) Consult with agency counsel as appropriate. 


(4) Issue a final determination on behalf of the Office of Open Records or other agency. 


(b) Procedures. — The Office of Open Records, a judicial agency, a legislative agency, the Attorney General, 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 19 


Auditor General, State Treasurer or district attorney may adopt procedures relating to appeals under this 
chapter. 


(1) If an appeal is resolved without a hearing, 1 Pa. Code Pt. II (relating to general rules of administrative 
practice and procedure) does not apply except to the extent that the agency has adopted these 
chapters in its regulations or rules under this subsection. 


(2) If a hearing is held, 1 Pa. Code Pt. II shall apply unless the agency has adopted regulations, policies or 
procedures to the contrary under this subsection. 


(3) In the absence of a regulation, policy or procedure governing appeals under this chapter, the appeals 
officer shall rule on procedural matters on the basis of justice, fairness and the expeditious resolution 
of the dispute. 


CHAPTER 13. JUDICIAL REVIEW 


Section 1301. Commonwealth agencies, legislative agencies and judicial agencies. 


(a) General rule. — Within 30 days of the mailing date of the final determination of the appeals officer 
relating to a decision of a Commonwealth agency, a legislative agency or a judicial agency issued under 
section 1101(b) or the date a request for access is deemed denied, a requester or the agency may file a 
petition for review or other document as might be required by rule of court with the Commonwealth 
Court. The decision of the court shall contain findings of fact and conclusions of law based upon the 
evidence as a whole. The decision shall clearly and concisely explain the rationale for the decision. 


(b) Stay. — A petition for review under this section shall stay the release of documents until a decision under 
subsection (a) is issued. 


Section 1302. Local agencies. 


(a) General rule. — Within 30 days of the mailing date of the final determination of the appeals officer 
relating to a decision of a local agency issued under section 1101(b) or of the date a request for access is 
deemed denied, a requester or local agency may file a petition for review or other document as required 
by rule of court with the court of common pleas for the county where the local agency is located. The 
decision of the court shall contain findings of fact and conclusions of law based upon the evidence as a 
whole. The decision shall clearly and concisely explain the rationale for the decision. 


(b) Stay. — A petition for review under this section shall stay the release of documents until a decision under 
subsection (a) is issued. 


Section 1303. Notice and records. 


(a) Notice. — An agency, the requester and the Office of Open Records or designated appeals officer shall be 
served notice of actions commenced in accordance with section 1301 or 1302 and shall have an 
opportunity to respond in accordance with applicable court rules. 


(b) Record on appeal. — The record before a court shall consist of the request, the agency’s response, the 
appeal filed under section 1101, the hearing transcript, if any, and the final written determination of the 
appeals officer. 


Section 1304. Court costs and attorney fees. 


(a) Reversal of agency determination. — If a court reverses the final determination of the appeals officer 
or grants access to a record after a request for access was deemed denied, the court may award reasonable 
attorney fees and costs of litigation or an appropriate portion thereof to a requester if the court finds 
either of the following: 


(1) the agency receiving the original request willfully or with wanton disregard deprived the requester of 
access to a public record subject to access or otherwise acted in bad faith under the provisions of this 
act; or 


(2) the exemptions, exclusions or defenses asserted by the agency in its final determination were not based 
on a reasonable interpretation of law. 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 20 


(b) Sanctions for frivolous requests or appeals. — The court may award reasonable attorney fees and 
costs of litigation or an appropriate portion thereof to an agency or the requester if the court finds that 
the legal challenge under this chapter was frivolous. 


(c) Other sanctions. — Nothing in this act shall prohibit a court from imposing penalties and costs in 
accordance with applicable rules of court. 


Section 1305. Civil penalty. 


(a) Denial of access. — A court may impose a civil penalty of not more than $1,500 if an agency denied 
access to a public record in bad faith. 


(b) Failure to comply with court order. — An agency or public official who does not promptly comply 
with a court order under this act is subject to a civil penalty of not more than $500 per day until the 
public records are provided. 


Section 1306. Immunity. 


(a) General rule. — Except as provided in sections 1304 and 1305 and other statutes governing the release of 
records, no agency, public official or public employee shall be liable for civil penalties resulting from 
compliance or failure to comply with this act. 


(b) Schedules. — No agency, public official or public employee shall be liable for civil or criminal damages or 
penalties under this act for complying with any written public record retention and disposition schedule. 


Section 1307. Fee limitations. 


(a) Postage. — Fees for postage may not exceed the actual cost of mailing. 


(b) Duplication. —  


(1) Fees for duplication by photocopying, printing from electronic media or microfilm, copying onto 
electronic media, transmission by facsimile or other electronic means and other means of duplication 
shall be established: 


(i) by the Office of Open Records, for Commonwealth agencies and local agencies; 


(ii) by each judicial agency; and 


(iii) by each legislative agency. 


(2) The fees must be reasonable and based on prevailing fees for comparable duplication services provided 
by local business entities. 


(3) Fees for local agencies may reflect regional price differences. 


(4) The following apply to complex and extensive data sets, including geographic information systems or 
integrated property assessment lists. 


(i) Fees for copying may be based on the reasonable market value of the same or closely related data 
sets. 


(ii) Subparagraph (i) shall not apply to: 


(A) a request by an individual employed by or connected with a newspaper or magazine of general 
circulation, weekly newspaper publication, press association or radio or television station, for 
the purpose of obtaining information for publication or broadcast; or 


(B) a request by a nonprofit organization for the conduct of educational research. 


(iii) Information obtained under subparagraph (ii) shall be subject to paragraphs (1), (2) and (3). 


(c) Certification. — An agency may impose reasonable fees for official certification of copies if the 
certification is at the behest of the requester and for the purpose of legally verifying the public record. 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 21 


(d) Conversion to paper. — If a record is only maintained electronically or in other nonpaper media, 
duplication fees shall be limited to the lesser of the fee for duplication on paper or the fee for duplication 
in the original media as provided by subsection (b) unless the requester specifically requests for the record 
to be duplicated in the more expensive medium. 


(e) Enhanced electronic access. — If an agency offers enhanced electronic access to records in addition to 
making the records accessible for inspection and duplication by a requester as required by this act, the 
agency may establish user fees specifically for the provision of the enhanced electronic access, but only to 
the extent that the enhanced electronic access is in addition to making the records accessible for 
inspection and duplication by a requester as required by this act. The user fees for enhanced electronic 
access may be a flat rate, a subscription fee for a period of time, a per-transaction fee, a fee based on the 
cumulative time of system access or any other reasonable method and any combination thereof. The user 
fees for enhanced electronic access must be reasonable, must be approved by the Office of Open Records 
and may not be established with the intent or effect of excluding persons from access to records or 
duplicates thereof or of creating profit for the agency. 


(f) Waiver of fees. — An agency may waive the fees for duplication of a record, including, but not limited to, 
when: 


(1) the requester duplicates the record; or 


(2) the agency deems it is in the public interest to do so. 


(g) Limitations. — Except as otherwise provided by statute, no other fees may be imposed unless the agency 
necessarily incurs costs for complying with the request, and such fees must be reasonable. No fee may be 
imposed for an agency’s review of a record to determine whether the record is a public record, legislative 
record or financial record subject to access in accordance with this act. 


(h) Prepayment. — Prior to granting a request for access in accordance with this act, an agency may require 
a requester to prepay an estimate of the fees authorized under this section if the fees required to fulfill 
the request are expected to exceed $100. 


Section 1308. Prohibition. 


A policy or regulation adopted under this act may not include any of the following: 


(1) A limitation on the number of records which may be requested or made available for inspection or 
duplication. 


(2) A requirement to disclose the purpose or motive in requesting access to records. 


Section 1309. Practice and procedure. 


The provisions of 2 Pa.C.S. (relating to administrative law and procedure) shall not apply to this act unless 
specifically adopted by regulation or policy. 


Section 1310. Office of Open Records. 


(a) Establishment. — There is established in the Department of Community and Economic Development 
an Office of Open Records. 


The office shall do all of the following: 


(1) Provide information relating to the implementation and enforcement of this act. 


(2) Issue advisory opinions to agencies and requesters. 


(3) Provide annual training courses to agencies, public officials and public employees on this act and 65 
Pa.C.S. Ch. 7 (relating to open meetings). 


(4) Provide annual, regional training courses to local agencies, public officials and public employees. 


 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 22 


(5) Assign appeals officers to review appeals of decisions by Commonwealth agencies or local agencies, 
except as provided in section 503(d), filed under section 1101 and issue orders and opinions. The office 
shall employ or contract with attorneys to serve as appeals officers to review appeals and, if necessary, 
to hold hearings on a regional basis under this act. Each appeals officer must comply with all of the 
following: 


(i) Complete a training course provided by the Office of Open Records prior to acting as an appeals 
officer. 


(ii) If a hearing is necessary, hold hearings regionally as necessary to ensure access to the remedies 
provided by this act. 


(iii) Comply with the procedures under section 1102(b). 


(6) Establish an informal mediation program to resolve disputes under this act. 


(7) Establish an Internet website with information relating to this act, including information on fees, 
advisory opinions and decisions and the name and address of all open records officers in this 
Commonwealth. 


(8) Conduct a biannual review of fees charged under this act. 


(9) Annually report on its activities and findings to the Governor and the General Assembly. The report 
shall be posted and maintained on the Internet website established under paragraph (7). 


(b) Executive director. — Within 90 days of the effective date of this section, the Governor shall appoint 
an executive director of the office who shall serve for a term of six years. Compensation shall be set by the 
Executive Board established under section 204 of the act of April 9, 1929 (P.L.177, No.175), known as The 
Administrative Code of 1929. The executive director may serve no more than two terms. 


(c) Limitation. — The executive director shall not seek election nor accept appointment to any political 
office during his tenure as executive director and for one year thereafter. 


(d) Staffing. — The executive director shall appoint attorneys to act as appeals officers and additional 
clerical, technical and professional staff as may be appropriate and may contract for additional services as 
necessary for the performance of the executive director’s duties. The compensation of attorneys and 
other staff shall be set by the Executive Board. The appointment of attorneys shall not be subject to the 
act of October 15, 1980 (P.L.950, No.164), known as the Commonwealth Attorneys Act. 


(e) Duties. — The executive director shall ensure that the duties of the Office of Open Records are carried 
out and shall monitor cases appealed to the Office of Open Records. 


(f) Appropriation. — The appropriation for the office shall be in a separate line item and shall be under the 
jurisdiction of the executive director. 


CHAPTER 15. STATE-RELATED INSTITUTIONS 


Section 1501. Definition. 


As used in this chapter, “State-related institution” means any of the following: 


(1) Temple University. 


(2) The University of Pittsburgh. 


(3) The Pennsylvania State University. 


(4) Lincoln University. 


Section 1502. Reporting. 


No later than May 30 of each year, a State-related institution shall file with the Governor’s Office, the General 
Assembly, the Auditor General and the State Library the information set forth in section 1503. 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 23 


Section 1503. Contents of report. 


The report required under section 1502 shall include the following: 


(1) Except as provided in paragraph (4), all information required by Form 990 or an equivalent form, of the 
United States Department of the Treasury, Internal Revenue Service, entitled the Return of 
Organization Exempt From Income Tax, regardless of whether the State-related institution is 
required to file the form by the Federal Government. 


(2) The salaries of all officers and directors of the State-related institution. 


(3) The highest 25 salaries paid to employees of the institution that are not included under paragraph (2). 


(4) The report shall not include information relating to individual donors. 


Section 1504. Copies and posting. 


A State-related institution shall maintain, for at least seven years, a copy of the report in the institution’s 
library and shall provide free access to the report on the institution’s Internet website. 


CHAPTER 17. STATE CONTRACT INFORMATION 


Section 1701. Submission and retention of contracts. 


(a) General rule. — Whenever any Commonwealth agency, legislative agency or judicial agency shall enter 
into any contract involving any property, real, personal or mixed of any kind or description or any 
contract for personal services where the consideration involved in the contract is $5,000 or more, a copy 
of the contract shall be filed with the Treasury Department within ten days after the contract is fully 
executed on behalf of the Commonwealth agency, legislative agency or judicial agency or otherwise 
becomes an obligation of the Commonwealth agency, legislative agency or judicial agency. The provisions 
of this chapter shall not apply to contracts for services protected by a privilege. The provisions of this 
chapter shall not apply to a purchase order evidencing fulfillment of an existing contract but shall apply to 
a purchase order evidencing new obligations. The following shall apply: 


(1) Each Commonwealth agency, legislative agency and judicial agency shall submit contracts in a form and 
structure mutually agreed upon by the Commonwealth agency, legislative agency or judicial agency 
and the State Treasurer. 


(2) The Treasury Department may require each Commonwealth agency, legislative agency or judicial 
agency to provide a summary with each contract, which shall include the following: 


(i) Date of execution. 


(ii) Amount of the contract. 


(iii) Beginning date of the contract. 


(iv) End date of the contract, if applicable. 


(v) Name of the agency entering into the contract. 


(vi) The name of all parties executing the contract. 


(vii) Subject matter of the contract. 


Each agency shall create and maintain the data under this paragraph in an ASCII-delimited text file, 
spreadsheet file or other file provided by Treasury Department regulation. 


(b) Retention. — Every contract filed pursuant to subsection (a) shall remain on file with the Treasury 
Department for a period of not less than four years after the end date of the contract. 


 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 24 


(c) Accuracy. — Each Commonwealth agency, legislative agency and judicial agency is responsible for 
verifying the accuracy and completeness of the information that it submits to the State Treasurer. The 
contract provided to the Treasury Department pursuant to this chapter shall be redacted in accordance 
with applicable provisions of this act by the agency filing the contract to the Treasury Department. 


(d) Applicability. — The provisions of this act shall not apply to copies of contracts submitted to the 
Treasury Department, the Office of Auditor General or other agency for purposes of audits and warrants 
for disbursements under section 307, 401, 402 or 403 of the act of April 9, 1929 (P.L.343, No.176), known 
as The Fiscal Code. 


Section 1702. Public availability of contracts. 


(a) General rule. — The Treasury Department shall make each contract filed pursuant to section 1701 
available for public inspection either by posting a copy of the contract on the Treasury Department’s 
publicly accessible Internet website or by posting a contract summary on the department’s publicly 
accessible Internet website. 


(b) Posting. — The Treasury Department shall post the information received pursuant to this chapter in a 
manner that allows the public to search contracts or contract summaries by the categories enumerated in 
section 1701(a)(2). 


(c) Request to review or receive copy of contract. — The Treasury Department shall maintain a page on 
its publicly accessible Internet website that includes instructions on how to review a contract on the 
Internet website. 


(d) Paper copy. — A paper copy of a contract may be requested from the agency that executed the contract 
in accordance with this act. 


CHAPTER 31. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 


Section 3101. Applicability. 


This Act shall apply to requests for information made after December 31, 2008. 


Section 3101.1. Relation to other laws. 


If the provisions of this act regarding access to records conflict with any other federal or state law, the 
provisions of this act shall not apply. 


Section 3101.2. Severability. 


All provisions of this act are severable. 


Section 3102. Repeals. 


Repeals are as follows: 


(1) The General Assembly declares as follows: 


(i) The repeal under paragraph (2)(i) is necessary to effectuate Chapter 17. 


(ii) The repeals under paragraph (2)(ii) and (iii) are necessary to effectuate this act. 


(2) The following acts and parts of acts are repealed: 


(i) Section 1104 of the act of April 9, 1929 (P.L.177, No.175), known as The Administrative Code of 
1929. 


(ii) The act of June 21, 1957 (P.L.390, No.212), referred to as the Right-to-Know Law. 


(iii) 62 Pa.C.S. § 106. 







Pennsylvania’s New Right-To-Know Law 25 


Section 3103. References. 


Notwithstanding 1 PA.C.S. § 1937(B), a reference in a statute or regulation to the act of June 21, 1957 (P.L.390, 
No.212), referred to as the Right-to-Know Law, shall be deemed a reference to this act. 


Section 3104. Effective date. 


This act shall take effect as follows: 


(1) The following provisions shall take effect immediately: 


(i) Sections 101, 102 and 1310. 


(ii) This section. 


(2) Chapters 15 and 17 and sections 3102(1)(I) and 3102(2)(I) shall take effect July 1, 2008. 


(3) The remainder of this act shall take effect January 1, 2009. 


 


### 





		Act 3 - Table of Contents

		Table of Contents

		CHAPTER 1 PRELIMINARY PROVISIONS

		101 Short title

		102 Definitions

		• Administrative proceeding

		• Agency

		• Aggregated data

		• Appeals officer

		• Commonwealth agency

		• Confidential propietary information

		• Financial record

		• Homeland security

		• Independent agency

		• Judicial agency

		• Legislative agency

		• Legislative record

		• Local agency

		• Office of Open Records

		• Personal financial information

		• Privilege

		• Public record

		• Record

		• Requester

		• Response

		• Social services

		• State-affiliated entity

		• State-related institution

		• Terrorist act

		• Trade secret

		CHAPTER 3 REQUIREMENTS & PROHIBITIONS

		301 Commonwealth agencies

		302 Local agencies

		303 Legislative agencies

		304 Judicial agencies

		305 Presumptions

		306 Nature of document

		CHAPTER 5 ACCESS

		501 Scope of chapter

		502 Open-records officer

		503 Appeals officer

		504 Regulations and policies

		505 Uniform form

		506 Requests

		507 Retention of recordes

		CHAPTER 7 PROCEDURE

		701 Access

		702 Requests

		703 Written requests

		704 Electronic access

		705 Creation of record

		706 Redaction

		707 Production of certain records

		708 Exceptions for public records

		• Burden of proof

		• Exceptions

		1-3 (Safety and security)

		4 (Computer security)

		5 (Individual health information)

		6 (Personal identification information)

		7 (Agency personnel information)

		8 (Labor negotiations)

		9 (Drafts)

		10 (Internal, predecisional records or budget strategy)

		11 (Trade secrets)

		12 (Notes, working papers)

		13 (Donors)

		14 (Unpublished lecture notes, manuscripts, creative works)

		15 (Academic transcripts, exams)

		16 (Criminal investigation records)

		17 (Noncriminal investigation records/complaints)

		18 (911 recordings)

		19 (DNA/RNA)

		20 (Autopsy records)

		21 (Draft minutes, executive session minutes)

		22 (Real estate, engineering, environmental reviews)

		23 (Library circulation records)

		24 (Library/museum archives)

		25 (Archeological sites/endangered species)

		26 (Pre-award bid proposals)

		27 (Insurance communications)

		28 (Individual social services identification)

		29 (Citizens constituent service correspondence with General Assembly)

		30 (Identification of minors)

		CHAPTER 9 AGENCY RESPONSE

		901 General rule

		902 Extension of time

		903 Denial

		904 Certified copies

		905 Record discard

		CHAPTER 11 APPEAL OF AGENCY DETERMINATION

		1101 Filing of apeal

		1102 Appeals officers

		CHAPTER 13 JUDICIAL REVIEW

		1301 Commonwealth agencies, legislative agencies and judicial agencies

		1302 Local agencies

		1303 Notice and records

		1304 Court costs and attorney fees

		1305 Civil penalty

		1306 Immunity

		1307 Fee limitations

		1308 Prohibition

		1309 Practice and procedure

		1310 Office of Open Records

		CHAPTER 15 STATE-RELATED INSTITUTIONS

		1501 Definitions

		1502 Reporting

		1503 Contents of reports

		1504 Copies and posting

		CHAPTER 17 STATE CONTRACT INFORMATION

		1701 Submission and retention of contracts

		1702 Public availability of contracts

		CHAPTER 31 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

		3101 Applicability

		3101.1 Relation to other laws

		3101.2 Severability

		3102 Repeals

		3101 References

		3104 Effective date










Part 8
CODE OF ETHICS


§ 1-801. Statement of Principles. [Ord. 105, 4/13/1976; as
revised by Ord. 374, 1/10/1989]


§ 1-802. Definitions. [Ord. 105, 4/13/1976; as revised by Ord.
374, 1/10/1989]


As used in this chapter, the following terms shall have the meanings
indicated:
FINANCIAL INTEREST — Any interest which shall yield, directly
or indirectly, a monetary or other material benefit to the official or
employee or to any person employing or retaining the services of
the official or employee. "Financial interest" shall not include cases
where the official or employee is a party to or is associated with
a party to a transaction with the Township when such official or
employee has no possible influence in the transaction.
OFFICIAL OR EMPLOYEE — Any person elected or appointed to,
or employed or retained by, any public office or public body of the
Township, whether paid or unpaid and whether part-time or full-time.
PARTY — A person, firm, corporation, or other entity participating in
and intending to participate in any transaction with the Township in
any manner which would give the person, firm, corporation, or entity
a personal or financial interest in the transaction.
PERSONAL INTEREST — Any interest arising from blood or marriage
relationships or from close business associations, whether or not any
financial interest is involved.


The public judges its government by the way public officials and
employees conduct themselves in the posts to which they are
elected or appointed. The people have a right to expect that every
public official and employee will conduct themselves in a manner
that will tend to preserve public confidence in and respect for
the government they represent. Such confidence and respect can
best be promoted if every public official and employee, whether
paid or unpaid and whether elected or appointed, will uniformly:


Treat all citizens with impartiality, fairness, and equality
under the law.


A.


Avoid both actual and potential conflicts between their
private self-interest and the public interest.


B.


1.


§ 1-801 § 1-802


:1







PUBLIC BODY — Any agent, board, body, commission, committee,
department, or office of the Township.
TRANSACTION — Includes, but is not limited to, any proceeding,
application, submission, request for ruling or other determination,
contract, lease, claim, case award, decision, judgment, or legislation,
including ordinances and resolutions.


§ 1-803. Fair and Equal Treatment. [Ord. 105, 4/13/1976; as
revised by Ord. 374, 1/10/1989]


No official or employee shall grant or make available to any person
any consideration, treatment, advantage or favor beyond that which
is in the general practice to grant or make available to the public at
large.


§ 1-804. Conflicts of Interest. [Ord. 105, 4/13/1976; as revised
by Ord. 374, 1/10/1989]


Financial or Personal Interest. No official or employee, either
on his/her own behalf or for any other person, shall have any
financial or personal interest in any transaction with any public
body.


1.


Disclosure and Disqualification. All officials and employees shall,
upon taking office, file a financial disclosure statement of all
areas of financial interest or personal interest as set forth by the
Commonwealth State Ethics Act, Act 120 of 1978, as amended,
or as may be amended from time to time. Whenever the
performance of their official duties shall require any official or
employee to deliberate and vote on any matter involving their
financial or personal interest, they shall publicly disclose the
nature and extent of such interest and disqualify themselves from
participating in the deliberation as well as in the voting.


2.


Incompatible Employment. No official or employee shall engage
in private employment with or render service for any party in
connection with any transaction with any public body. Except
where authorized by law, no official or employee shall hold any
other position as an official or employee during the term for
which they were elected or appointed to their present office,
and no former official or employee shall hold any appointive
compensated position as an official or employee until one year
after the expiration of the term for which they were elected or
appointed. No official or employee shall be prohibited, under
this subsection, from serving on any public body or on any
intergovernmental agency or council of government which would


3.


§ 1-802 § 1-804


:2







be in furtherance of their duties and responsibilities as an official
or employee, but no additional pay shall be received for any
such services. This subsection shall not prohibit the Township
Manager from serving as the Township Secretary or Treasurer
simultaneously.


Representation of any Party. No official or employee shall appear
on behalf of any private person, other than themselves, before
any public body, except by issuance of a subpoena issued by a
court having jurisdiction over the subject matter at issue.


4.


Gifts and Favors. No official or employee shall accept any gift,
whether in the form of money, thing, favor, loan, or promise, that
would not be offered or given to them if they were not an official
or employee, except that food or drink consumable at one meal
shall not be considered a gift or favor.


5.


Confidential Information. No official or employee shall use or
permit the use of any confidential information acquired by them
through their position as an official or employee to advance the
financial or personal interest of themselves or any other person
or entity.


6.


Service as Attorney. No official or employee shall serve as
attorney for a public body during the period that they serve as
an official or employee and for one year thereafter. This shall not
prohibit the Township Attorney from serving any public body in
the Township where he/she is the attorney.


7.


Township Attorney. The Township Attorney or his/her firm shall
not be permitted to serve a party in any matter in which the
Township is an adverse party. The Township Attorney shall guard
against conflicts of interest and shall promptly inform the Board
of Supervisors of any potential conflict of interest which he/she
may have in any particular matter.


8.


Purchases or Sales by Officials or Employees. No official or
employee shall be a purchaser in any sale involving the Township,
except by sealed or competitive bid, nor shall an official or
employee be a vendor, directly or indirectly, of any item
purchased by them in their official capacity, including a purchase
or sale by a parent, spouse, child, brother, sister, or like relative-
in-law or by any person, firm, partnership, corporation, business
association, trustee or straw party for or on behalf of such official
or employee in compliance with § 8.06 of the Home Rule Charter.


9.


§ 1-804 § 1-804


:3







§ 1-805. Voiding of Transactions in the Case of Violations.
[Ord. 105, 4/13/1976; as revised by Ord. 374, 1/10/1989]


Every transaction made in violation of the provisions of this chapter
may be voided at the insistence of any party to the transaction, except
the official or employee interested therein, upon written election
thereof delivered to the Township Manager before the transaction is
completed or within 90 days after completion. No such transaction
may be voided because of the interest of an official or employee
unless such transaction is made in the official capacity of such official
or employee, by a public body of which they are an official or
employee or on the recommendation of a public body of which they
are an official or employee.


§ 1-806. Violations and Penalties. [Ord. 105, 4/13/1976; as
revised by Ord. 374, 1/10/1989]


Subject to due process of law, any official or employee who violates
any provision of this chapter may be disqualified from being an
appointed official or employee in the Township for four years after
the date of the transaction in which the violation occurs. If the
violation occurs while he/she is serving as an appointed official, he/
she may be removed from his/her position as an appointed official by
a majority vote of the Board of Supervisors subject to procedural and
substantive procedure of law. If the violation occurs while he/she is
serving as an employee, he/she may be removed from his/her position
as an employee by the Township Manager, all in accordance with the
statutes of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.


§ 1-807. Financial Disclosure Statement Procedure. [Ord. 105,
4/13/1976; as revised by Ord. 374, 1/10/1989]


Independence of Judgment. No official shall accept other
employment or receive any compensation or make any
investments that would impair their independence of judgment in
the performance of their duties as an official or employee.


10.


As required by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania State Ethics
Act, Act 170 of 1978, a statement of financial interest shall be
filed in accordance with the statute.


1.


The Township Manager shall maintain a file of all disclosure
statements, which shall be available for public inspection at
reasonable times in the Township office. The Manager shall also
maintain a register, also available for public inspection, of the


2.


§ 1-804 § 1-807


:4







name and address of each person requesting inspection and the
date the inspection was made.


The Township Manager shall distribute standard forms for the
financial disclosure statement. No disclosure statements shall
indicate dollar or other value of an interest. The financial
disclosure statement shall be the standard form used by the State
Ethics Commission.


3.


§ 1-807 § 1-807


:5





		part 8 CODE OF ETHICS

		§ 1-801 Statement of Principles.

		§ 1-802 Definitions.

		§ 1-803 Fair and Equal Treatment.

		§ 1-804 Conflicts of Interest.

		§ 1-805 Voiding of Transactions in the Case of Violations.

		§ 1-806 Violations and Penalties.

		§ 1-807 Financial Disclosure Statement Procedure.












 


 


Exhibit “A” 


Ferguson Township Email Utilization Policy 


Purpose 


This policy applies to all elected and appointed officials of Ferguson Township to which Ferguson 


Township email addresses are issued including, but which may not be limited to, the Board of 


Supervisors, Planning Commission, Tree Commission, and Zoning Hearing Board, hereafter referred to as 


“ABCs.” The purpose of this policy is to establish expectations of conduct by which email users shall 


abide when utilizing Township email accounts, as well as to ensure compliance with governing statutes 


including the PA Sunshine Act, PA Right to Know Law, and other applicable local, state, and federal law. 


Policy 


It is recognized that email is an important form of business communication for the Township’s ABCs. All 


communications sent from or received by Township email accounts should be presumed to be Township 


property, subject to discovery, retention and disposition under applicable statute. All communications 


should be professional in nature. The use of Township email accounts for defamatory, obscene, sexually 


explicit, illegal, offensive, threatening or other inappropriate communications is strictly prohibited.  


It shall be incumbent upon the Township ABC member to regularly check their Township email account 


for agendas and other communications relative to their position on an ABC. Ferguson Township staff 


shall not send duplicate emails to Township ABC members’ personal email accounts. 


Usage 


All business relative to the Township’s ABCs shall be done on Township email accounts. ABC members 


shall refrain from conducting Township business from any personal email account. Furthermore, ABC 


members are prohibited from configuring Township email accounts to automatically forward received 


messages to personal email accounts. Synchronizing a Township email account with the email 


application of a personal device or smartphone is generally permitted. Township email accounts shall 


always be presumed to be subject to public review under the Pennsylvania Right to Know Law. 


Applicability of The Pennsylvania Sunshine Act 


It is recognized that any prearranged gathering of an agency which is attended or participated in by a 


quorum of the members of an agency held for the purpose of deliberating agency business or taking 


official action must be done with prior notice and provide an opportunity for the public to attend, 


participate, and comment before any official action is taken. Furthermore, it is recognized that the 


engagement of deliberation of agency business or taking official action by email constitutes a meeting 


under the definition provided in the PA Sunshine Act. Finally, because it is not possible for such meetings 


by email to be compliant with the provisions of the PA Sunshine Act, such interactions must be avoided. 


Applicability of the Pennsylvania Right to Know Law 


It is recognized that all ABC emails which contain information that is a matter of public record as defined 


by the Pennsylvania Right to Know Law could be subject to discovery under said law and subpoena by a 


court of law. A policy shall be applied to all ABC email accounts which automatically purges all sent email 


after a period of ninety (90) days. In any event in which a Right to Know request is approved by the 







 


 


Township’s Right to Know Officers that would require the discovery of ABC emails, the Township Right 


to Know Officer shall provide applicable ABC members with notice. The Township’s email system is 


configured in a manner that all sent and received emails can be retrieved by the Township’s designated 


Information Technology Administrator. 


Applicability of Other Established Policies 


In addition to governing statute, Township email accounts shall also be subject to regulation by other 


established policy, such as the Board of Supervisors Procedures Manual, Ferguson Township 


Administrative Code, and other covenants and regulations applicable to Township ABCs. 


Training 


Township staff shall provide this policy and training to all members of Township ABCs on the proper 


handling and utilization of email. Questions on this policy or handling of Township email shall be 


directed to the appropriate staff liaison of the ABC. The following are examples of emails that generally 


constitute public records: 


• Email created or received by municipal employees in connection with municipal business; 


• Email that facilitates action, such as initiating, authorizing, or completing a transaction in 


connection with municipal business. 


The following are examples of emails that generally do not constitute public records: 


• Personal email messages and announcements not related to municipal; business; 


• Copies or extracts of documents emailed for convenience or reference; 


• Internal emails created by employees on work-related topics which do not facilitate action; 


• Emails containing drafts, notes, or inter-office memoranda that are not retained by the 


municipality in the ordinary course of business. 


Limited Personal Use Permitted 


Personal use is permissible within reasonable limits and if consistent with restrictions defined in this 


policy. Examples of permissible personal use of Township email accounts includes, but may not 


necessarily be limited to scheduling of appointments; communications relative to social events such as 


retirement functions, birthdays, notice of community events to be provided as information or invitation 


to other Township email account holders; and other limited uses that do not interfere with the ABC 


members’ responsibilities or conflict with other provisions of this policy. 


No Expectation of Privacy 


It is recognized that, since all Township email is considered property of the Township, the Township 


Manager or his/her designee may monitor these communications compliance with this policy and to 


protect the Township from liability. There is no expectation of privacy of emails sent from a Township 


email account. 


Permanency of Communications 


Deleting email messages does not guarantee that they are erased from the email system. ABC members 


should not believe that privacy of email messages is created by deleting incoming or outgoing messages. 







 


 


In addition, in the event of litigation or court subpoena, technology may exist to restore deleted email. 


ABC members should be prepared to defend in court and under oath the content of anything 


communicated in an email. 


No Harassment 


No email messages should be created or sent which might constitute intimidating, hostile or offensive 


material on the basis of sex, race, color, religion, national origin, age, sexual orientation, or disability. 


Harassment is broadly defined as anything that has improper (e.g. sexual) content and is both 


unwelcome and offensive to a reasonable person. The display of any kind of sexually explicit image or 


document in the Township’s email system is prohibited. In addition, sexually explicit material may not 


be archived, stored, or distributed via Township email accounts. Please refer to the Township’s policy 


against sexual harassment in the Ferguson Township Personnel Manual for further description. 


Consequences of Misuse 


Any violation of this policy may constitute the forfeiture of a user’s access to a Township email account. 


Further civil or criminal liability as may be necessary and justified under applicable statute may also 


apply.  


Waiver 


Township ABC members assigned access to a Township email account agree to sign an 


acknowledgement that states the member understands and shall abide by this policy. This 


acknowledgement establishes that the ABC member understands that the communications covered by 


this policy are subject to review to determine compliance with this policy. 








 


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 


PERSONNEL RULES & REGULATIONS 
 


 
Subject: 


Social Media Policy 


 
Date of Adoption: 


April 20, 2015 


 
Section 


 


 
Page No. 


 


Employees Affected: 
All Employees 


 


Date of Revision: 
 


 
33.0 


 
33.10 


 
 
 


 


FERGUSON TOWNSHIP SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY 


 


 
I. Definitions 


 
A. Blog – A self-published diary or commentary on a particular topic that may allow visitors to 


post responses, reactions, or comments. The term is short for “Web Log.” 
 


B. Page – The specific portion of a social media website where content is displayed and 
managed by an individual or individuals with administrator rights. 


 
C. Social Media – A category of Internet-based resources that integrate user-generated content 


and user participation. This includes, but is not limited to, social networking sites (Facebook, 
MySpace), microblogging sites (Twitter, Nixle), photo- and video-sharing sites (Flickr, 
YouTube), wikis (Wikipedia), blogs, and new sites (Digg, Reddit).  


 
D. Wiki – Web page(s) that can be edited collaboratively. 


 
II. Purpose 


 
A. The purpose of this policy is to regulate the usage of Township social media pages to 


enhance effective and efficient communication services to Township residents.  The 
objective of Township use of social media is to promote better communications, provide 
greater access to information, foster greater transparency, allow for increased accountability, 
encourage broader participation, and provide a vehicle for collaborative problem-solving on 
issues of concern or interest to Township residents.  


 
B. This policy intends to clearly define the permissions and restrictions that shall be enforced on 


various users of Township social media pages. These include Township staff, personnel 
designated to post on behalf of the Township, citizens, interested readers, and elected and 
appointed officials. 


 
C. This policy proposes to regulate the behavior of employees of the Township with regard to 


all social media usage; specifically, to provide guidelines for usage during work hours. 
 


D. This policy proposes to ensure that all Township use of social media is compliant with 
applicable federal, state, and local laws. These include, but are not limited to, Freedom of 
Information Act, Pennsylvania Right-to-Know Law, First Amendment, Pennsylvania 
Sunshine Act, and any applicable information security policies established by the Township. 


 







 


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 


PERSONNEL RULES & REGULATIONS 
 


 
Subject: 


Social Media Policy 


 
Date of Adoption: 


April 20, 2015 


 
Section 


 


 
Page No. 


 


Employees Affected: 
All Employees 


 


Date of Revision: 
 


 
33.0 


 
33.11 


 
 
 


 


III. Policy 
 


A. The Township has determined that the use of social media can be most effective for 
disseminating Township communications, such as engagement opportunities; employment 
announcements; important communications from elected officials; updates from Township 
authorities, boards, and commissions; and communicating other news and events to 
subscribers of Township social media accounts.  


 
B. Comment and Posting Policy 


 
i. While it is recognized that the Township’s social media pages are designed primarily as 


an informative tool for residents and interested readers, responses to Township posts 
are welcome provided the content of the responses does not violate the provisions of 
Part III Section B. iii. and iv. of this policy. 


 
ii. Because the ability of Township staff to respond to comments on social media pages is 


limited, it is recommended that inquiries made regarding social media posts be 
delivered via email or by contacting a Township representative directly. 


 
iii. Comments and responses to Township social media posts shall directly relate to the 


content of the original posts. Comments and responses that do not directly relate to the 
content of the original posts shall be promptly deleted. 


 
iv. Additionally, the Township of Ferguson reserves the right to delete any content that 


contains: 
 


1. Vulgar language; 
2. Spam or unauthorized solicitations of any kind; 
3. Content that promotes, fosters, or perpetuates discrimination on the basis of race, 


creed, color, age, religion, gender, marital status, status with regard to public 
assistance, national origin, physical or mental disability, or sexual orientation; 


4. Promotion of particular services, products, or political organizations; 
5. Copyright or trademark infringement; 
6. Personally identifiable medical information;  
7. Any information that could potentially compromise the safety, security, or 


proceedings of public systems or any criminal or civil investigations; 
8. Sexual content or links to sexual content; and/or 
9. Content that violates the terms of use of the social medium in which it exists. 


 







 


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 


PERSONNEL RULES & REGULATIONS 
 


 
Subject: 


Social Media Policy 


 
Date of Adoption: 


April 20, 2015 


 
Section 


 


 
Page No. 


 


Employees Affected: 
All Employees 


 


Date of Revision: 
 


 
33.0 


 
33.12 


 
 
 


 


v. Where possible, social media pages shall clearly indicate they are maintained by the 
Township and shall have the Township contact information prominently displayed. 


 
vi. Where possible, social media pages should state that the opinions expressed by 


visitors to the page(s) do not reflect the opinions of the Township, its staff, or elected or 
appointed officials. 


 
vii. Social media pages shall clearly indicated that posted comments will be monitored and 


that the Township reserves the right to enforce the provisions of Section B. of this 
policy. 


 
viii. Social media pages shall clearly indicate that any content posted or submitted for 


posting is subject to public disclosure.  
 


C. Guidelines for posting to social media websites on behalf of the Township 
 


i. All posts shall be approved by the Township Manager, Assistant Township Manager, or 
relevant Department Head. 


 
1. Exception: Approved communications issued via Constant Contact may be posted to 


social media pages without additional approval of the Township Manager, Assistant 
Township Manager, or relevant Department Head. 


 
ii. Social media posts and commentary should, where possible, direct the reader back to 


the Township’s website for more detailed information on the topic. 
 


iii. Only Township staff designated by the Township Manager shall be permitted to post 
content on behalf of Ferguson Township. 


 
iv. Posts shall contain information that is of interests to residents including, but not limited 


to: 
1. Events and announcements; 
2. Job opportunities; 
3. Updates on ordinances, resolutions, and other action of the Board of Supervisors; 
4. Explanation and clarification on actions of the Board of Supervisors; 
5. Solicitations for resident input in the form of surveys and polls; 
6. Pictures of Township and regional amenities such as parks, neighborhoods, scenery 


or community events; 
7. Updates to the Township website including agendas and minutes, photos, and new 


functionality; and 







 


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 


PERSONNEL RULES & REGULATIONS 
 


 
Subject: 


Social Media Policy 


 
Date of Adoption: 


April 20, 2015 


 
Section 


 


 
Page No. 


 


Employees Affected: 
All Employees 


 


Date of Revision: 
 


 
33.0 


 
33.13 


 
 
 


 


8. Appropriate newsworthy department announcements such as, but not limited to road 
closures, detour information, winter weather alerts, open houses, criminal 
investigations, safety tips and new development information. 


 
D. Those designed to post to social media pages on behalf of the Township shall be 


considerate of the following: 
 


i. As a Township spokesperson, it is important to conduct yourself in a manner consistent 
with the high ethical and moral standards expected of a government employee;  


 
ii. Adhere to all Township policies and codes of conduct and observe conventionally 


accepted protocols; 
 


iii. When possible, opinion and commentary will be omitted from social media posts; 
 


iv. Identify themselves as a member of Township staff; and 
 


v. Not conduct political activities or personal business. 
 


IV. Personal Use 
 


A. Precautions and Prohibitions 
 


i. Employees of Ferguson Township are prohibited from accessing and updating personal 
social media pages during their scheduled work period. This restriction does not apply 
during scheduled break or lunch periods. 


 
ii. Township personnel shall not post, transmit, or otherwise disseminate information to 


which they have access as a result of their employment without written permission 
from the Township Manager or his designee. 


 
iii. Township personnel may not divulge information gained by reason of their authority; 


make any statements, speeches, appearances, and endorsements; or publish 
materials that could reasonably be considered to represent the views or positions of 
the Township without express authorization of the Township Manager or his designee. 


 
iv. Township personnel should be aware that they may be subject to civil litigation for: 


 
1. Publishing or posting false information that harms the reputation of another 


person, group, or organizations (defamation); 







 


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 


PERSONNEL RULES & REGULATIONS 
 


 
Subject: 


Social Media Policy 


 
Date of Adoption: 


April 20, 2015 


 
Section 


 


 
Page No. 


 


Employees Affected: 
All Employees 


 


Date of Revision: 
 


 
33.0 


 
33.14 


 
 
 


 


 
2. Publishing or posting private facts and personal information about someone 


without their permission that has not been previously revealed to the public, is not 
of legitimate public concern, and would be offensive to a reasonable person; 


 
3. Using someone else’s name, likeness, or other personal attributes without that 


person’s permission for an exploitative purpose; or 
 


4. Publishing the creative work of another, trademarks, or certain confidential 
business information without the permission of the owner. 


 
v. Township personnel should be aware that privacy settings on social media sites are 


constantly in flux, and should never assume that personal information posted on such 
media is protected. 


 
vi. Township personnel should expect that any information created, transmitted, 


downloaded, exchanges, or discussed in a public online forum may be accessed by 
the department at any time without prior notice. 


 
vii. Reporting violations – Any employee becoming aware of or having knowledge of a 


posting or of any website or webpage in violation of the provisions of this policy shall 
notify his or her supervisor immediately. 


 
V. Miscellaneous Provisions 


 
A. Applicability of federal, state, and local laws 


 
i. Nothing contained in this policy is intended to, nor shall be construed as superseding 


any applicable federal, state, or local laws or rights and liberties including, but not 
limited to, those provided by the First Amendment, the Freedom of Information Act, 
the Pennsylvania Right-to-Know Law, the Pennsylvania Sunshine Act, and any 
applicable information security policies established by the Township. 


 
ii. All relevant records retention schedules apply to social media formats and social 


media content. Retention and disposition of social media information will be the same 
as information that exists in any other form of media, whether paper or electronic. For 
example, the retention period that shall apply to a social media posting about an 
employment announcement shall be the same as a paper employment 
announcement.  


 







 


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 


PERSONNEL RULES & REGULATIONS 
 


 
Subject: 


Social Media Policy 


 
Date of Adoption: 


April 20, 2015 


 
Section 


 


 
Page No. 


 


Employees Affected: 
All Employees 


 


Date of Revision: 
 


 
33.0 


 
33.15 


 
 
 


 


B. This policy is intended to supplement the Township’s General Information Technology 
Policy. Nothing in this policy is intended to, nor shall be construed as superseding the 
provisions of the General Information Technology Policy, as may be amended. 


 
VI. Exceptions 


 
A. No exceptions to any provisions expressed in this policy will be permitted without the written 


consent of the Township Manager unless specifically mentioned within this policy. 
 


VII. Penalties 
 


A. Penalties associated with violations of this policy shall be at the sole discretion of the 
Township Manager. 


 
B. Penalties may include, but are not limited to, temporary or permanent removal of status as a 


designated Township spokesperson on social media pages, revocation of access to the 
Township’s computer network, suspension, termination, or any other consequence deemed 
relevant by the Township Manager given the nature of the offense. 


 








Ferguson Township PART 2 
 District Regulations 
 


  5 


PART 2 


District Regulations 
 


§27-201.  Establishment and Purposes of Zoning Districts. 


For the purposes of this Chapter, the Township is hereby divided into the following districts: 


A. Rural Districts. 


1. Rural Agricultural District (RA) - To encourage the continuation of the Township’s 
commitment to promoting agriculture within established working landscapes and where 
agricultural activities have historically occurred. 


2. Rural Residential District (RR) - To encourage the continuation of the Township’s established 
working landscapes and activities in the context of very low density residential development. 


3. Agricultural Research (AR) - To promote and preserve locations within the Township where 
institution-based agriculture, research, extension, or education, as defined by the USDA (US 
Dept of Agriculture), PDA (PA Dept of Agriculture) or the Agricultural Research, Extension, 
and Education Reform Act OF 1998 (and as amended), and associated accessory structures and 
related activities, can occur. 


4. Forest/Gamelands District (FG) - To provide appropriate location for land uses dedicated to 
resources of State-wide significance supporting hunting and conservation, ecological 
sanctuaries, nature preserves, public parks and outdoor recreation facilities. 


B. Residential Districts. 


1. Single-Family Residential District (R-1) - To provide appropriate location for single-family 
detached dwellings that may or may not be serviced with on-site sewage infrastructure and 
neighborhood-scale, civic-oriented land uses. 


2. Suburban Single-Family Residential District (R-1B) - To provide appropriate location for 
single-family detached dwellings that are serviced with off-site sewage infrastructure and 
neighborhood-scale, civic-oriented land uses. 


3. Two Family Residential District (R-2) - To provide appropriate location for single-family and 
two-family dwellings on lots smaller than those typically associated with single-family 
residential districts and neighborhood-scale, civic-oriented land uses. 


4. Townhouse Residential District (R-3) - To provide appropriate location for a range of dwellings 
types and densities generally oriented toward smaller lot sizes, zero-lot lines as well as 
neighborhood-scale, civic-oriented and/or supportive care facilities. 


5. Multi-Family Residential District (R-4) - To provide appropriate location for a range of higher-
density dwellings and neighborhood-scale, civic-supportive land uses.  


6. Mobile Home Park District (MHP) - To provide appropriate location that supports mobile home 
parks. 


7. Village District (V) - To provide an appropriate location for an area that supports a mix of 
residential and non-residential land uses, ranging from single-family dwellings to professional 
offices, and encourages pedestrian activity. 







Ferguson Township PART 2 
 District Regulations 
 


  21 


§27-205.  District Quicks. 


§205.11 District – Village (V) 
 


 









































		Pages from 7.27.20_pine_sap_agenda.pdf

		Pages from 7.27.20_pine_sap_agenda-2.pdf










W PINE GROVE RD


W PINE GROVE RD


Zoning Districts
Proposed Zoning Changes
Agricultural Research (AR)
General Commercial (C)
Forest/Gamelands (FG)
General Industrial (I)
Light Industry, Research & Development (IRD)
Mobile Home Park (MHP)
Office Commercial (OC)
Planned Residential Development (PRD)
Single Family Residential (R1)


Suburban Single Family Residential (R1B)
Two Family Residential (R2)
Townhouse Residential (R3)
Multi-Family Residential (R4)
Rural Agricultural (RA)
Rural Residential (RR)
Terraced Streetscape District (TSD)
Traditional Town Development (TTD)
Village (V)


PINE GROVE MILLS  AND FOREST G AME LANDS


±


0 300 600150 Feet
Legend


Parcel Connecting PGM to Rothrock
















